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          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen.  Welcome to the New York City

          4  Council Chamber.  My name is Domenic Recchia.  I am

          5  the Chair of the Cultural Affairs Committee,

          6  Libraries and International Intergroup Relations.

          7                 This morning we will consider

          8  proposed Resolution 177-A.  The Committee will hear

          9  testimony on this resolution, and then this

         10  Committee will take a vote as soon as we have a full

         11  quorum.

         12                 Right after this hearing, we will

         13  proceed to our next hearing with Youth Services

         14  Committee, Cultural Affairs and Youth Services

         15  Committee.  At which time, as soon as we get a

         16  quorum, we will vote on the proposed resolution.

         17                 Resolution 177-A supports the Save

         18  Darfur Coalition, Save Darfur Rally to stop Genocide

         19  and declares April 30, 2006 to be Save Darfur Day.

         20                 Since 2003, the government of Sudan

         21  has engaged in a series of brutality and repressive

         22  military actions in the Darfur region of that

         23  country.  These activities have resulted in what

         24  many have described as the worst human crisis in the

         25  world, at this time.  Thousands have been killed,
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          2  while millions have been forced into refugee camps.

          3                 I believe that public officials have

          4  an obligation to raise their voices, such as this,

          5  wherever they may occur.  The saddest part of this

          6  dismal episode, is that crime is being perpetrated

          7  against the innocent people of Darfur are not

          8  singular, rather they are part of a long and awful

          9  heritage of human brutality.

         10                 At other times in history, the world

         11  has remained silent, and that silence has permitted

         12  the work of tyrants, madmen and simply, criminals,

         13  to continue.  It is crucial that we have elected

         14  officials in the largest cities.  The United States

         15  do not remain silent, but speak out totally against

         16  us.

         17                 We have this morning, the prime

         18  sponsor of this resolution, Council Member Gale

         19  Brewer, who at this time, I invite her to make an

         20  opening statement.  Gale?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much, Chairman Recchia, for holding this hearing,

         23  and the purpose of this hearing is to talk about the

         24  situation in the Sudan region of Darfur, where more

         25  than two million people have been displaced due to
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          2  violence, great violence, and some 400,000, almost

          3  500 people a day have died.  It forces us to look at

          4  the lack of interest, and the lack of discussion on

          5  the ongoing genocidal operation, particularly

          6  imposed on black Africans, by Arab Muslims.

          7                 Our civil rights establishment in

          8  this country must look at this issue very carefully.

          9  As Ruth Messinger has said, and she will testify in

         10  a few moments, in 1994 in Rowanda, 800,000 people

         11  were killed in ten days, but most of the media

         12  focused on O.J. Simpson.  And she will tell you that

         13  in 2004, the networks have done 25 minutes over one

         14  year on Darfur.  That was in 2004, and in 2005,

         15  thanks to NBC and some of their hero reporters, a

         16  bit more has been done.  But the fact of the matter

         17  is, this country is not paying attention to this

         18  genocide.

         19                 So, I look forward to this City of

         20  New York, the City Council, putting the City of New

         21  York on record, that this genocide must stop, and

         22  that President Bush, and we are all going to

         23  Washington on April 30th to tell him that during

         24  your first year in the White House, you wrote in the

         25  report on Rowanda, not on my watch.  And we want you
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          2  to live up to those words by using the power of your

          3  office to support a stronger, multi national force,

          4  to protect the people of Darfur.

          5                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Gale,

          7  and thank you for introducing this resolution that

          8  is very important to the world.

          9                 At this time, we will call our first

         10  panel.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Our first witness will

         12  be Ruth Messinger, American Jewish World Service.

         13                 Okay.  She will be joined by Iain

         14  Levine, Human Rights Watch.

         15                 MS. MESSINGER: Thank you very, very

         16  much, Mr. Chairman.  I am delighted to be here.  I

         17  appreciate your holding this hearing in a timely

         18  fashion, and I want to thank Council Member Brewer

         19  for introducing the resolution, and for the work she

         20  has done in her own district and beyond, to

         21  publicize this issue.

         22                 I asked to be joined by my colleague,

         23  Iain Levine from Human Rights Watch, because we are

         24  both going to talk to the same point and we are both

         25  going to talk reasonably briefly, but we are, I
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          2  would say that as important as it is for you to

          3  adopt this resolution, and have it go to the full

          4  Council on Wednesday, it is at least as important to

          5  me, that concerned Council members use their email

          6  communication systems to urge people to take note of

          7  this rally this coming Sunday in Washington, and to

          8  attend.

          9                 Both you and Gale, and of course the

         10  resolution, includes some of the facts about the

         11  situation in Darfur.  But I have found that when I

         12  speak, that I need to begin by saying that it comes

         13  as a shock to most New Yorkers, to most Americans,

         14  to hear, even a little bit about what we have to say

         15  about what is happening in this region of the world.

         16    Because they are well read, well television

         17  watched constituents, and they assume they know

         18  everything that is happening.  So, I need to

         19  disabuse of us all of that notion and say, as Gale

         20  said, with some statistics, that Darfur does not get

         21  covered.  That Rowanda did not get covered for the

         22  100 days of that genocide.  And that right now, in a

         23  very large region, the Darfur region of Sudan, which

         24  is an area the size of Texas, close to two and a

         25  half million people have been displaced from their
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          2  homes through systematic combination of murders,

          3  rape, other forms of sexual violence and assault,

          4  and then a deliberate attempt to poison the water

          5  supply and raise the villages to the ground, so that

          6  people cannot return.

          7                 Those individuals all have stories to

          8  tell.  And all of their stories are chilling.  I

          9  have been to Darfur once, and to Chad once, to talk

         10  to the refugees.  And I promise you, these are not

         11  stories that you want me to tell this morning.  But

         12  what you need to know, is that there are now two and

         13  a half million people displaced, three and a half

         14  million people who were subsistence farmers who met

         15  their own needs, now dependant on the world for food

         16  at a time when the world food program and the United

         17  Nations say they do not have enough money to

         18  maintain that food supply.

         19                 So, we are entering into an arena

         20  which might be described as genocide by famine, in

         21  which more and more of these people are going to die

         22  from hunger and from starvation from dehydration, or

         23  access to less clean water, and the spread of water

         24  borne disease.

         25                 More to the point, this is an issue
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          2  that calls out for public action in this country,

          3  not only because of its horror, but because all

          4  estimates, by all players, are that this is a

          5  genocide that can be stopped.  That the presence

          6  right now of 7,000 less than well trained, less than

          7  well resourced, African Union troops in a region the

          8  size of Texas, is an absurdity.  But that if the

          9  world powers, hopefully led by the United States,

         10  mobilized resources, troops, support for troops from

         11  other African countries that cannot mobilize without

         12  dollars and material, that we could, in fact, get a

         13  substantial force on the ground, and that force

         14  would be adequate to stop the senseless killing of

         15  Moslem against Moslem, in an ethnic genocide that

         16  has now gone on for 38 months.

         17                 So, I do not really want to say

         18  anymore.  I would like Iain to speak and to see if

         19  you have any questions.  What I need you to

         20  understand is that this Postcard Campaign, and the

         21  postcards are over there, which we launched seven

         22  months ago, calling it the Million Voices Campaign,

         23  which produced a lot of titters from the press, has

         24  now hit past the half million mark. Those cards will

         25  be turned in this Sunday, and the Postcard Campaign
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          2  will continue.  The showing of concern from the

          3  American public, is what will move our government

          4  beyond words, to action. And those actions will, in

          5  fact, have an impact.  Thank you.

          6                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you, good morning.

          7  My name is Iain Levine.  I am the Program Director

          8  from Human Rights Watch, an International Human

          9  Rights Organization that is being involved for

         10  almost three years now, in documenting the

         11  atrocities, the war crimes, and crimes against

         12  humanity, that have been so well described by Ruth

         13  Messinger, that have been going on in Darfur ever

         14  since the war that began in February 2003.

         15                 As Ruth pointed out, this is perhaps

         16  the gravest human rights and humanitarian crisis in

         17  the world today.  Three and a half million people

         18  are now dependant on international humanitarian

         19  assistance.  More than two million have been

         20  displaced.  Hundreds of thousands are killed, and

         21  these are due to the deliberate and brutal actions

         22  of the government of Sudan, and of its allies, the

         23  Janjaweed militia, who it has recruited to attack

         24  members of particular ethnic groups, perceived to be

         25  supporters of the rebel groups.
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          2                 In addition, the crisis in Sudan has

          3  not only had massive human and humanitarian

          4  ramifications within Sudan itself, but it has spread

          5  over, it has bled over the boarder into neighboring

          6  Chad, a country which is already housing over

          7  200,000 refugees.  And it has contributed to massive

          8  regional de stabilization, typified just over a week

          9  ago, by an attempted coup against the president of

         10  Chad.  A coup said to be supported by the government

         11  of Sudan.

         12                 In the midst of enormous suffering,

         13  and as Ruth pointed out, sadly far too little

         14  documented suffering.  And despite the lessons that

         15  we all claim to have learned after Rowanda, when one

         16  more time we said, never again would we allow

         17  genocide to happen, the international response has

         18  been consistently too little, and too late.

         19                 The international community has

         20  failed to provide effective protection for the

         21  people of Darfur, who continue daily to die, to be

         22  killed, to be raped, and to be forcibly displaced.

         23  It has failed to force the government of Sudan to

         24  bring the perpetrators of the atrocities to justice.

         25    It has even failed to impose sanctions on the
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          2  government of Sudan, in order to send a message as

          3  to the unacceptability of its conduct in the 21st

          4  century.

          5                 As Ruth pointed out, there are some

          6  small bright spots.  The African Union Force has

          7  been too small and too little resourced, but where

          8  it has been active, it has been able to save lives

          9  and provide some degree of protection for those

         10  around us.

         11                 And the referral of Darfur to the

         12  International Criminal Court, gives us at least some

         13  hope that one day, that those most guilty and most

         14  responsible of war crimes and crimes against

         15  humanity, will be forced to stand and face justice.

         16                 But what we need now is a lot more.

         17  We need a strong U.N. Force with 20,000 troops well

         18  armed, well equipped with good transport, and a

         19  clear strong mandate to provide effective protection

         20  for the people of Darfur.  We need accountability

         21  and justice for those, right up to the president of

         22  Sudan, who are guilty of these atrocities.  And we

         23  need firm sanctions against the government of Sudan,

         24  to ensure that the political message from around the

         25  world is clear to the government.  This must stop,
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          2  this is not acceptable.

          3                 One of the few bright spots in the

          4  sad story of Darfur, has been the way in which it

          5  has mobilized a grassroots coalition in the U.S.,

          6  that has brought together religious groups, human

          7  rights groups, humanitarian groups, student's

          8  groups, civil rights groups and others, to support

          9  the efforts to protect the people in Darfur.

         10                 The march in Washington D.C. On April

         11  the 30th, is going to be one of the most important

         12  events that this coalition has organized, and it

         13  will send an extremely important signal to all those

         14  in the political establishment in this country, that

         15  we need to see more, more direct action from this

         16  government and from governments around the world, to

         17  protect the people of Darfur.

         18                 On behalf of Human Rights Watch, I

         19  thank you for your interest in this issue, and

         20  strongly support the proposed resolution going

         21  forward, which will send a very important signal

         22  from a very important political body, that what is

         23  going on in Darfur, has to end, and end very soon.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: First, I want to
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          2  thank both of you for the work that you have been

          3  doing.  And this is very important, and we will make

          4  it an issue.  Anything you feel the City Council,

          5  this committee could do, we will be willing to work

          6  with you and -- how many of these postcards have you

          7  received back?

          8                 MS. MESSINGER: Half a million, well,

          9  not all in that form.  There is also electronic.

         10  But totally over a half a million, as of last week.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And you are

         12  going to present these to --

         13                 MS. MESSINGER: We will present these

         14  as part of the rally on Thursday, and we will

         15  continue, I mean on Sunday, sorry, and we will

         16  continue the effort, and our goal is to get a

         17  million signatures.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And how long

         19  have you been working at this for this rally?  Could

         20  you tell us more about the rally that is going to be

         21  held on Sunday?

         22                 MS. MESSINGER: Yes, Save Darfur

         23  Coalition was actually formed in July of 2004 by an

         24  assemblage of faith- based organizations, called

         25  together by my organization and by the United States
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          2  Holocaust Memorial Museum.  It now has about 130

          3  different organizations, all faiths, all races, many

          4  human rights organizations, secular organizations

          5  and as with all coalitions, only probably a third of

          6  those organizations are active.  But the ones that

          7  are active, are hugely active.  And so, the plan for

          8  the rally, which was really initiated probably at

          9  the end of 2005, so we have been working on this for

         10  four months.  It is mobilizing constituents all over

         11  the country.

         12                 First of all, I am aware of at least

         13  five or six places in the United States where people

         14  are organizing their own rallies on Sunday, that we

         15  had nothing to do with.  They just could not figure

         16  out a way to get to Washington.  There is a group in

         17  Seattle that emailed me to say we are having a major

         18  demonstration here, but we are flying 26 people

         19  there, so that we will be represented.  There is a

         20  major effort in, this is a set of steps and a rally

         21  supported strongly by the United States Conference

         22  of Catholic Bishops, the Arch Bishop of Washington

         23  will be speaking at the rally, and will be

         24  mobilizing all of his churches.  There is a huge

         25  effort to mobilize any African American community,

                                                            16

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  particularly in the Washington and Baltimore areas.

          3  And a very, very, large response from Jewish

          4  organizations of all denominations.  There will be

          5  Muslim speakers.  There will be speakers from South

          6  Sudan.  There will be speakers from Darfur. And I am

          7  happy to say, there will be a couple of television

          8  stars. In fact, I am told that I will be on the

          9  platform with Noah Wiley, which might be something I

         10  have been looking forward to all of my life.

         11                 But anyway, it is a quite

         12  extraordinary mobilization, for a small coalition

         13  working for four months.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: At this time,

         15  Gale Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much.  My question is, I know that Nicholas Kristoff

         18  has done a lot of articles on this topic, and one of

         19  the suggestions, I guess, he makes is, no fly zones.

         20    But I am just wondering if you could kind of

         21  articulate when we go to Washington, in addition to

         22  support, troop support, what should we be looking

         23  to, for this Administration, or for other

         24  governments to do to stop the genocide?

         25                 MS. MESSINGER: Well there is -- Iain
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          2  might want to comment on this also.  There is a

          3  whole range of steps, and we will be involved in

          4  many of those, not only leading up to Sunday, but

          5  after Sunday.  The official call of the rally, and

          6  the postcard, is to enlarge the troop strength on

          7  the ground toward the 20,000 number that Iain

          8  mentioned, that we all think is sufficient, to at

          9  least stop the violence.  And to get those troops to

         10  be given a broader mandate, which requires a great

         11  deal of negotiation between and among the U.S.,

         12  other U.N. Powers, and the government of Sudan, a

         13  specific mandate to protect the citizens of Darfur.

         14                 Beyond that, yes, there is mention of

         15  a no fly zone. There are various proposals for

         16  whether it should be U.N. Troops or whether NATO

         17  should be involved.  I guess my positions, speaking

         18  for my organization, is what I am looking for, is a

         19  public outcry from the citizens of America, that

         20  will convince our government to take the range of

         21  diplomatic military strategic and financial options

         22  that I know it has, to make a difference.

         23                 Recently, as more members of congress

         24  have become committed to this issue, partly because

         25  of pressure from their constituents, partly because
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          2  of a bipartisan trip taken by Nancy Pelosi, and I

          3  think ten other members of Congress, to Darfur.

          4  There have been actions in the Congress that we

          5  approve of, which included additional substantial

          6  additional funding for the troops that are now on

          7  the ground, and the possibility of additional

          8  funding for the World Food Program.

          9                 So, I see all of those as steps that

         10  we could be urging our government to do more of.

         11                 MR. LEVINE: Yes, I would endorse

         12  everything that was said, very little to add.

         13  Specifically, in terms of the no fly zone.  This is

         14  important.  The Sudanese government uses planes and

         15  helicopters to attack defenseless villages, and then

         16  compounds the attacks through ground forces coming

         17  in, sometimes on horseback, sometimes on the back of

         18  pick up trucks.  It is extremely important that

         19  there be an ability to prevent the Sudanese

         20  government from using its Air Force to attack

         21  defenseless civilians. There would obviously need to

         22  be an exception for humanitarian planes, and for the

         23  peace keepers themselves, to be able to quickly move

         24  around, where there was trouble.  But we need to

         25  stop the Sudanese government from being able to use
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          2  air means to attack its own citizens.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.  At

          4  this time I have a quorum and I would like to vote

          5  on this resolution.

          6                 But before I do that, I would like to

          7  introduce the members of this committee.  To my

          8  right, we have from the Bronx, Council Member Jim

          9  Vacca, Ms. Dickens, from Manhattan.  On my left,

         10  Vincent Gentile, Leroy Comrie, and of course, Gale

         11  Brewer.

         12                 At this time, I ask to call the vote

         13  on Reso. 177-A.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         15  Recchia.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vacca.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: A vote of five in the
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          2  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,

          3  item is adopted.

          4                 Council members, please sign the

          5  Committee report.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I will leave

          7  this resolution vote open for any other Council

          8  member who wishes to cast their vote.

          9                 Does any other Council member have

         10  any questions?

         11                 Since no other Council member has any

         12  questions, I would like to congratulate you.  We are

         13  going to pass this resolution.  It is going to go to

         14  the full Council on Wednesday, and we hope that you

         15  take it with you to Washington on Sunday, and let

         16  them know that the members of the City Council

         17  totally support that it is time that we all pitch in

         18  and help the people in Darfur.  And it is time that

         19  this has to stop.  And we have to send more troops,

         20  because it is devastating what is going on.  If we

         21  can send troops to other parts of this country, we

         22  can certainly send troops here.  We can save lives.

         23                 MS. MESSINGER: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you so much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to

          5  thank former Council Member Ruth Messinger for her

          6  awesome leadership on this issue.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Ruth

          8  Messinger.

          9                 Now we can get set up to start our

         10  next hearing on Youth Services and Libraries.

         11                 My name is Domenic M. Recchia Junior.

         12    I am the Chairman of the Cultural Affairs

         13  Committee and to my right have Council Member Vinnie

         14  Gentile, Chairman of the Sub Committee on Libraries.

         15    And to my left, I have Chairman Lou Fidler of the

         16  Youth Service Committee.  Also present, we have

         17  Jimmy Vacca from the Borough of the Bronx.

         18                 Before we get started, I would just

         19  like to -- if anyone would like to testify, please

         20  sign up with the Sergeant- at Arms to my left at the

         21  desk.  And you will be able to testify.

         22                 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.

         23  This morning it is with great pride that I welcome

         24  you once again, to the City Council chamber.  This

         25  morning's oversight hearing is entitled Exploring
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          2  the Impact of Youth Programs at the New York Public

          3  Libraries.  And it is held jointly with the

          4  Committees on Youth Service, chaired by Lou Fidler,

          5  and the Sub Committee on Libraries, chaired by

          6  Council Member Vincent Gentile.

          7                 New York's three public library

          8  systems serve all five boroughs, and represent

          9  crucial community and educational resources.  This

         10  hearing will investigate what Youth Services and the

         11  Libraries are providing.  We will hear testimony on

         12  how these services are delivered and marketed, and

         13  what populations are being served, and how these

         14  services can be improved.

         15                 The programs offered, and being

         16  provided for children with skills they need for

         17  success and to enrich their lives of children where

         18  experience will make them better students. These

         19  programs open the door to the skills that our young

         20  people need, in order to become to be a member of

         21  the new generation of leaders.

         22                 At this moment, I would like to ask

         23  the chair of Youth Services Committee and Sub

         24  Committee on Libraries, to make an opening

         25  statement.  Vincent Gentile.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you.

          3  Thank you, Chairman Recchia.  And let me take this

          4  opportunity, since this is the first hearing in

          5  which we have a subject of libraries, particularly,

          6  to thank our chair and our Speaker, for creating a

          7  specific Sub Committee on Libraries.  I think it

          8  reflects, not only the growing concern that we have

          9  in the City Council about the role of libraries in

         10  our City and the State and condition of our

         11  libraries in our City.  But it also, I believe,

         12  reflects the fact that this City Council has a

         13  renewed focus and a renewed emphasis on making sure

         14  that our libraries in the three systems can be the

         15  very best that they can be.

         16                 So, I think this is a exciting time

         17  for us here on the City Council.  I want to thank

         18  Speaker Quinn, for asking me to chair this Sub

         19  Committee, and I want to thank Chairman Recchia, for

         20  I believe, suggesting me.

         21                      So, with that, let me just say

         22  that with today's hearing, we follow through with

         23  our Council's oversight responsibility.  And today,

         24  exploring youth programs at New York's libraries.

         25  Every study on the topic of youth programs,

                                                            24

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  corroborates that youth benefit, whence presented

          3  with the opportunity to engage in quality enrichment

          4  programs.  Our public libraries are a crucial

          5  provider of these services.

          6                 As you know, our libraries offer a

          7  broad range of programs for the youth including

          8  literacy and homework help, as well as dance, art

          9  and computer workshops.  The City's public libraries

         10  provide children with a safe place to go,

         11  particularly during after school hours, where they

         12  can receive academic enrichment services that they

         13  need.  The public library system in this City,

         14  receives most of its funding from City tax levy

         15  monies, approximately $257 million dollars in Fiscal

         16  Year 2006.

         17                 However, it is somewhat unclear what

         18  percentage of this funding is spent on youth

         19  programs.  And therefore, we have this hearing

         20  today.

         21                 Furthermore, the City Council

         22  established a $6.4 million dollar initiative, called

         23  the Cultural After School Adventure, also known as

         24  CASA, which was designed to fund arts- based after

         25  school programs for New York City youth.  CASA
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          2  provided $900 thousand dollars to the three library

          3  systems, to support a variety of after school

          4  programming, serving a range of age groups, with

          5  each system receiving a grant of $300 thousand

          6  dollars.  The three committees, two committees, sub

          7  committee today are interested in learning what type

          8  of programs this funding supports.

          9                 Today's hearing will investigate the

         10  extended impact of youth programs being offered by

         11  the three systems. Specifically, we are concerned

         12  with the level of service being provided, the nature

         13  and quality of the programs being offered, the

         14  amount of outreach being conducted by the library

         15  systems, and the level of coordination between the

         16  three systems, local schools and community- based

         17  organizations.

         18                 So, Mr. Chairman, with that, I

         19  believe that we have a set agenda.  So, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I would also

         21  like to recognize Danny Garodnick from Manhattan,

         22  who is with us today.  And Mr. Garodnick, I left the

         23  vote open on Resolution 177- A.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Yes, I

         25  would like to vote aye on 177 please.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.  Just make

          3  sure, I will speak to you about- make sure you sign

          4  the paperwork downstairs.

          5                 At this time, we call on Council

          6  Member Lou Fidler, Chairman of Youth Services

          7  Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

          9  Domenic.  It is my pleasure, as Chairman of the

         10  Youth Service Committee, to join the Cultural

         11  Affairs and Libraries Sub Committee on today's

         12  hearing. Obviously, both chairs have spoken to the

         13  purpose of the topic of today's hearing.

         14                 I am particularly interested in

         15  hearing about the progress of our CASA initiative

         16  through the Libraries.  So, I hope that our

         17  witnesses from the library systems will comment on

         18  that. I am sure everyone here knows that the Youth

         19  Services Committee is the biggest champion of youth

         20  programs, that there could possibly be.  So, we want

         21  to hear as much good news as we can, about how our

         22  libraries are interacting with our young people, and

         23  what services they are providing.

         24                 And I turn the microphone back over

         25  to Chairman Recchia to call our first panel.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, Council

          3  Member Lou Fidler.  At this time, I would like --

          4  Council Member Vinny Gentile.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Mr. Chairman, I

          6  would just be remiss if I did not mention the fact,

          7  that in addition to your Committee, the Youth

          8  Services Committee is really critical and crucial to

          9  our oversight today.  So, I think we make a good tri

         10  hombre here.  So, thank you, Councilman Fidler.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Before I call

         12  the first panel, I would just like to say a few

         13  words about the youth in our community, and how

         14  important the library systems are.

         15                 Many after school programs, finish at

         16  5:30, 6:00. Many children have no place to go,

         17  because their parents do not come home until 6:30,

         18  7:00, from traveling in Manhattan, from the outer

         19  boroughs.  The importance of the public library

         20  system is that many children are told by the parents

         21  to go to the library and wait for me to come there.

         22                 I know in my district, people

         23  traveling from Coney Island into Manhattan to work,

         24  after school programs finish, the libraries are

         25  filled to capacity from 5:00 on, because they have
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          2  no place to go.  The library system not only becomes

          3  an after school program for the youth, they become a

          4  place to do their homework, get assistance, go on

          5  the computer.  This is one of the main reasons how

          6  we are putting costs together.  We wanted the

          7  library systems to be a part of it.  Because we saw

          8  the resources that you are spending to assist the

          9  youth.  What many people in this City, they do not

         10  realize, or think of the library system as an after

         11  school program, or as a program where children can

         12  go until their parents get home.  Because it is

         13  safe, they are receiving something in the education

         14  that can help them, whether it be on the computer,

         15  or asking the staff in the library for help on

         16  reports and projects for school.  And it is

         17  wonderful.  I just feel the people in this City,

         18  number one, do not give the library systems enough

         19  recognition, enough credit, and to say thank you for

         20  holding our children until the parents come home.

         21                 So, I just want all three libraries

         22  to know that we in the City Council do appreciate

         23  the work that you are doing.  We do appreciate the

         24  programs you implemented.  And the main thing today,

         25  we want to hear what you have to say, so we can see
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          2  how we can help you improve this program, how we can

          3  help you make it better, and provide more services

          4  to our children.  And of course, we have the

          5  Administration here today, so we hope they listen

          6  and take word back to the other side of City Hall,

          7  to say that we have to give more funding to the

          8  library systems to help our youth.

          9                 CHAIRMAN FIDLER: Perhaps Chairman,

         10  the Administration will recognize that libraries

         11  seem to be open more than four days a week after

         12  today's testimony.

         13                 CHAIRMAN RECCHIA: At this time, I ask

         14   -- before we go any further I would like to thank

         15  all the staff who put this hearing together.  I

         16  would like to thank Josh Nachowitz, Mari De Pedro,

         17  Jake Herring, Laura Popa, Jennifer Culp and Mike

         18  Benjamin and Rocco D'Angelo.  Anybody else?  I want

         19  to thank all the staffs, because they worked very

         20  hard, and we do appreciate the work.

         21                 At this time, we call up the Brooklyn

         22  Public Library system first.

         23                 Before we do that, I would just like

         24  to recognize Eric Gioia from Queens, and he would

         25  like to vote on the Resolution 177- A.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

          3  much, Mr. Chairman.  I would like to vote yes, and

          4  also apologize for being late.  And if this has been

          5  mentioned already, I think everyone in the audience

          6  should know about the march in Washington on Sunday.

          7  Has this been mentioned already?  Have people talked

          8  about this?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, it has been

         10  mentioned and fully explained.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Wonderful.

         12  Well, then I would like to vote yes.  Thank you very

         13  much for having me.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And I just

         15  recommend you go see Billy and you sign the proper

         16  paperwork, because the vote was left open.  Okay Mr.

         17  Gioia?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Brooklyn Public Library System.

         21                 MS. COOPER: Thank you.  I am Ginny

         22  Cooper and I am the Executive Director of Brooklyn

         23  Public Library.  And it is my special pleasure today

         24  to speak to several of you from Brooklyn and others,

         25  as well, about this subject.
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          2                 My testimony this morning will be

          3  brief, so you will have an opportunity to ask any

          4  questions you might have.  In addition, you have

          5  already heard a lot of what I am going to say,

          6  because when I have testified on the preliminary and

          7  the executive budget this year and past years, and

          8  at other oversight hearings, I have really focused

          9  on our growing commitment to the young people of

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 This work is really at the core of

         12  what we do every day, at Brooklyn Public Library.

         13  As you may know, together with the Library Board, we

         14  have identified three broad goals for Brooklyn

         15  Public Library and one of them is, we will make an

         16  even greater difference in the lives of children in

         17  the Borough of Brooklyn, and we are doing that.

         18                 I am going to highlight just one

         19  example of programming that we do for each of the

         20  age groups.  The very youngest, that first five

         21  years, school aged children and teens or young

         22  adults.  And before I tell you about that, I will

         23  discuss a training module in place at Brooklyn

         24  Public Library.  It is called Everyone Serves Youth,

         25  and that really says it well.  This demonstrates our
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          2  commitment to young people in Brooklyn, all Brooklyn

          3  Public Library employees, whether their job

          4  traditionally involves direct work with library

          5  users, children or adults, is required to attend

          6  this peer led training.  And the main focus of this

          7  programming -- of this training, is to emphasize

          8  that it is not just the children's or young adult

          9  librarian who is responsible for making the library

         10  welcoming to young people.  It is the special

         11  officer on duty, at the Youth Wing at Central.  Or

         12  the maintainer, fixing a broken door at the

         13  Clarendon neighborhood library.  Everyone knows how

         14  children should behave and react, and then all staff

         15  can help address the special needs of children.

         16  This training has also been a part of the work we

         17  have shared with our colleagues at New York Public

         18  Library and at the Queens Public Library, because

         19  this is an attitude that we all share.

         20                 Now, those specific programs.  First,

         21  for the very littlest ones, when I testified at the

         22  preliminary budget hearing last march, I talked

         23  about our work with Brooklyn's youngest readers and

         24  the Brooklyn Reads to Babies initiative.  This

         25  program has been a great success and as a result,
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          2  thousands of new mothers and care givers come to

          3  each of Brooklyn's neighborhood libraries. Our goal

          4  is to ensure that everybody in the borough of

          5  Brooklyn, knows that reading to babies, helps their

          6  brains to develop, and it ensures that kids start

          7  school ready to learn.  We provide the tools and the

          8  information needed to share the joy of reading and

          9  singing and talking and playing with babies.

         10                 One example program is Toddler Time,

         11  for children about eighteen months to three years.

         12  The little ones and their care givers hear picture

         13  books, they do finger plays, see puppet shows.  We

         14  are really helping parents and care givers learn how

         15  to do these important and, of course, these fun

         16  tasks.  It also provides an opportunity for new

         17  mothers and fathers and care givers, to meet others

         18  in the neighborhood.

         19                 I cannot tell you what a joy it is to

         20  walk into Central Library through the Youth Wing

         21  entrance, and see the programming room over- flowing

         22  with little ones and their care givers, all giving

         23  their mostly, undivided attention to the picture

         24  book that is being read.  And this winter, when the

         25  winter was particularly cold, or this weekend in the
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          2  rain, it really seemed like Central Library's Youth

          3  Wing was the center of baby universe. And so it is,

          4  at all of Brooklyn's Libraries.

          5                 Now, for school aged programs, we do

          6  much in conjunction with the schools, and for kids

          7  after school, homework help, the whole variety of

          8  things, and you will hear about some of them from

          9  our colleagues.  I am going to talk about a program

         10  that you might remember from a long time ago, and

         11  that is RIF, or Reading is Fundamental.  Brooklyn

         12  was the very first library in the country to

         13  participate in Reading is Fundamental.  In that

         14  program, the Federal government provides the funds

         15  for the books, and we provide the space, the

         16  librarians, and everything else to make sure that

         17  program works.  It does a number of important

         18  things.  It encourages children to come to the

         19  library every week.  It encourages them to read.

         20  And most importantly, it allows them to take books

         21  home.  We know that book ownership is an important

         22  ingredient in seeing yourself as a reader, and as a

         23  person who can learn.  And in some of our community

         24  homes, the RIF books are the only books in the

         25  house.
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          2                 This program works in a very simple

          3  way.  Children are encouraged to borrow and read

          4  books from their local libraries. And on RIF day, if

          5  they have fulfilled their reading requirements,

          6  children can select and take home, an age

          7  appropriate book from a special collection.  The

          8  excitement at local libraries on RIF day, is truly

          9  incredible.  Last Thursday, at the Ulmer Park

         10  Library, a line of children stretched out the door

         11  from the programming room, snaked past the

         12  circulation desk, and into the main part of the

         13  library.  And remember, we were not giving away X-

         14  Box 360's or coupons for free admission to Coney

         15  Island.  They were lined up to show library staff,

         16  that they had been reading books, and to select a

         17  new book to take home.  That is really an amazing

         18  thing to see.

         19                 The third program I am going to

         20  discuss is a young adult or teen focused program.

         21  It is a great collaborative program called Teen

         22  Ambassadors.  This program began first with funding

         23  from the Wallace Foundation, through their Learning

         24  in Libraries grant that benefited all three City

         25  libraries.  And unfortunately, ends later in this
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          2  calendar year.  In the Fall of 2004, BPL met with

          3  representatives from the New York City Housing

          4  Authority.  And together we created the Teen

          5  Ambassador program.  NYCHA helped us to identify and

          6  hire two teenagers at each participating library.

          7  These teenagers served as liaisons between the

          8  neighborhood library and the housing development.

          9  They learned how the library functions, and about

         10  the programming and services we have to offer.

         11                 Teen Ambassadors began at two

         12  branches, at Kings Bay and at New Lots.  And after

         13  its initial success, expanded to two branches, or to

         14  six additional branches.  And I especially want to

         15  thank the Council for funding the CASA program.

         16  Through that, we have doubled the size of this

         17  program, and 16 of our branches now participate.

         18  And with more money, I will expand it to even more

         19  libraries.

         20                 This program addresses so many vital

         21  needs in Brooklyn.  It provides teens with a paying

         22  job and real work experience, allowing them to

         23  develop their skills for the future. It provides the

         24  library with a vital link to teens, who give us

         25  valuable information on what really works, and how
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          2  we can better serve teens at the library.

          3                 The Teen Ambassadors also help us

          4  improve teen programs, and they do a great job of

          5  promoting library resources to their peers.  And of

          6  course, our community is always improved when youth

          7  is positively engaged.

          8                 I am going to conclude with the

          9  comments one of the Teen Ambassadors made about the

         10  program.  He asked if the job made a difference in

         11  his life and he said, definitely.  It has helped me

         12  get off the streets.  Without this job, I would be

         13  sitting on a bench somewhere hanging out.  It made

         14  me think about the future, like what I want to do

         15  ten years from now.  I am going to be great at

         16  computers.  I am going to take computer science.

         17  And I look forward to coming to work at the library,

         18  and to working with kids.

         19                 A few weeks ago, a couple of weeks

         20  ago, I participated in a thank you program for the

         21  Teen Ambassadors.  And NYCHA so liked the program,

         22  that they presented us with this award which hangs

         23  in my office.  I had an opportunity to meet with the

         24  kids there who participated in that program.  I told

         25  them they all had to grow up to be librarians, and
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          2  they all, well they did not say yes, but, I told

          3  them that anyway.

          4                 So, as you can see, the programs we

          5  offer to teens and to the youngest babies, to school

          6  aged children, young adults and thousands of others

          7  in Brooklyn every day, truly makes a difference.

          8                 And again, I want to thank the

          9  Library and Youth Services Committees, and the

         10  Cultural Committees, for giving us the opportunity

         11  to tell our story today.  And I especially want to

         12  thank the members from Brooklyn and everybody on the

         13  City Council, for your steadfast support to

         14  Libraries, especially in the last several years, for

         15  the CASA initiative especially, and for your renewed

         16  focus on making sure that New York City's libraries

         17  can do the job we need to do.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Ginny

         19  Cooper.  We thank you and your staff and the

         20  wonderful job you are doing at the Brooklyn Public

         21  Library.

         22                 And I am just going to start off by

         23  asking you a few questions, and then turn it over to

         24  my colleague.

         25                 Before I do that, I want to introduce
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          2  Miguel Martinez from the borough of Manhattan, and

          3  Melissa Mark Viverito, from Manhattan also, from the

          4  Youth Committee.

          5                 You talked about, let me get this,

          6  the Wallace Foundation and that funding runs out

          7  this year?

          8                 MS. COOPER: Yes. That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And how much

         10  money was that?

         11                 MS. COOPER: Each of the three

         12  libraries was given a $2 million dollar grant to

         13  spend over a period of three years, with the goal

         14  that we love, and we know you do too, of making sure

         15  that children during the time they were out of

         16  school, had an opportunity for enriched programs,

         17  for help with homework, for encouragement for summer

         18  reading, and for many other programs that are very

         19  special.  Each of the three libraries did something

         20  different with that money.  And each of us

         21  participated in a program together with the others.

         22  For us, it was that training.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Now with that

         24  money that you are losing, how do you plan to make

         25  that up?
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          2                 MS. COOPER: Well, we are in the

          3  middle of our own internal budget work now.  And we

          4  have identified how much money we will need to just

          5  continue the basic programs that we have.  We are

          6  waiting to see what happens at City Council, to

          7  determine whether those programs can continue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And with the

          9  Wallace Foundation, is there any way to get those

         10  grants back or renewed?

         11                 MS. COOPER: Wallace has been very

         12  generous to Libraries over the years.  And this was

         13  their largest single grant, at the time that it was

         14  awarded, this $6 million dollar grant to the three

         15  libraries.  I have no doubt that Wallace will

         16  continue to be generous to Libraries, but I do not

         17  think it likely, that they will continue these

         18  grants, at this time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do we know if we

         20  are getting the money, or not getting the money, or

         21  where do we stand with them?

         22                 MS. COOPER: Well, I do not think --

         23  they have not allowed us to apply for this money to

         24  continue.  I think in a few years, we will see

         25  something else, and they have consistently --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, this is for

          3  three years, and once you receive it, you cannot

          4  apply for so many years.

          5                 MS. COOPER: That is exactly right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.  Now, with

          7  your library systems after school and -- what time

          8  is your busiest hours for children?

          9                 MS. COOPER: Well, it is very busy

         10  after 5:30, but I have to say, just come in at 3:00

         11  and it is jammed at every single one of our

         12  locations.  Every computer is filled, every reader

         13  chair has a body on it.  And most of them are kids

         14  from about ten to sixteen or seventeen.  Exactly the

         15  kids we want to make sure are positively engaged in

         16  our community.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And your

         18  program, Everyone Serves Youth, how much does that

         19  cost?

         20                 MS. COOPER: Actually, it was funded

         21  with the Wallace grant to deliver the -- to identify

         22  the curriculum.  But we have chosen to have trainers

         23  from within the library staff come forward. People

         24  of a variety of classifications, special officers,

         25  youth librarians, library clerks, branch operation's
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          2  supervisors and others, who learn that curriculum,

          3  and then deliver that to everybody else.  Every new

          4  employee gets that training, and every employee has

          5  been through it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, before new

          7  employees start working.

          8                 MS. COOPER: Perhaps not that soon,

          9  but sometime in their first few months.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: In the first few

         11  months, they get this training.

         12                 MS. COOPER: And we do it, because

         13  even if you are just driving a truck to deliver

         14  books from branches in Brooklyn, you need to know

         15  that it is about kids.  That is the important work

         16  that we are doing.  Everybody who is in one of our

         17  libraries who works in one of our libraries, has the

         18  opportunity to encounter youth who come into the

         19  library.  And we want to make sure they know that.

         20  For example, a three year old is not likely to be

         21  subject to clear reasoning.  We want to have people

         22  know what is the behavior we would expect from a ten

         23  year old, and from a twelve year old.  So that all

         24  the staff can appropriately deal with those kids,

         25  and help to make sure that they get what they need
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          2  from the library.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And your

          4  Brooklyn Reads to Babies and Toddler Time, that

          5  funding, how much does that cost you?

          6                 MS. COOPER: A good deal of that came

          7  from within Brooklyn Public Library's own funding.

          8  We hired the first ever early childhood specialist

          9  at Brooklyn Public Library.  Rachel Payne has a

         10  library degree, as well as a degree from Bank Street

         11  School.  She has helped our staff to understand the

         12  importance of doing that work.  And it is primarily

         13  our youth librarians who do this, in addition to

         14  their other responsibilities.

         15                 We did get a grant of about $100

         16  thousand dollars from the Star Foundation.  And with

         17  that money, as well as for every branch we renovate,

         18  we set up special spaces in the Children's Room.

         19  Sometimes it is not much bigger than the space

         20  between the table where I am, and the desk where you

         21  sit.  And it has got soft carpeting on the floor,

         22  and board books that cannot be damaged by little

         23  ones, and soft toys and other things.  It is just a

         24  place where kids are -- little ones can be on the

         25  floor, and know that they are not going to get
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          2  stepped on, and their parents can gather around and

          3  be with them.  We want to make sure that the library

          4  is a comfortable place for everybody, and making

          5  sure it is so, for parents and their youngest ones,

          6  is an important responsibility.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That $100

          8  thousand dollar grant from the Star Foundation, will

          9  you be receiving that again?

         10                 MS. COOPER: No, we actually have a

         11  word of good private funding from the Star

         12  foundation, but not specifically targeted for this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So you do not

         14  know if you are getting this $100 thousand for this?

         15                 MS. COOPER: No, I think we know we

         16  are not.  We have applications in at a number of

         17  other private places, in order to see if we can

         18  replace that money, and continue the roll out of

         19  this program at our branches.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, I have

         21  more questions but I do not want, you know, I am

         22  going to turn it over to have my colleagues ask some

         23  questions.  Council Member, Vinnie Gentile.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.  Good morning Ms. Cooper.  It is good to
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          2  see you again.

          3                 MS. COOPER: You, too.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I am curious,

          5  and I actually want to start off by maybe asking you

          6  a question that is a little bit off tangent, but it

          7  involves the use of the library.  I am curious, with

          8  all the youth programs that you run during the week,

          9  and I imagine the same with the other libraries, do

         10  you sometimes get a clash in terms of, not only age

         11  groups, but generations of people who want to use

         12  the library?  And I guess by that, I mean, where you

         13  have seniors coming in, in the afternoon and you

         14  know, one of my colleagues said to me just this

         15  morning, I get complaints all the time that the

         16  seniors say, oh the Latchkey Kids are here. That is

         17  how the perceive them, you know. And I am just

         18  curious, do you find that?  And if you do, how do

         19  you deal with that?

         20                 MS. COOPER: You know, you are right.

         21  Our libraries are very crowded when the kids are not

         22  in school.  After 3:00, when there are half days or

         23  school holidays, at any time, you can find kids in

         24  our libraries.  We often hear people suggesting to

         25  one another, and sometimes our staff will say, if
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          2  you would like to come when it is a little quieter,

          3  come in one of our mornings.  We are open two

          4  mornings a week at all of our branches, and we did

          5  that to accommodate preschool programs, and

          6  especially seniors and others, who wanted a little

          7  bit of time when that was not the case.

          8                 We do have that clash, but libraries

          9  are for kids and they are there, so I think

         10  everybody understands that in our community.  I

         11  occasionally hear those complaints, but truly, not

         12  very often.  But it is busy and it is like a zoo.  I

         13  know, I have been there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, well that is

         15  good to hear, that it is busy.  Now you mentioned

         16  the Brooklyn Reads to Babies. That is a program that

         17   -- how do you do the outreach to let parents know

         18  about that program?

         19                 MS. COOPER: Yes, that program is

         20  really about educating people in the borough of

         21  Brooklyn.  The Toddler Time and the First Five Year

         22  Space and the other programs that we do, are

         23  important.  But Brooklyn Reads to Babies does not

         24  require that you come into the library to get the

         25  benefit of that.  In fact, we are really working to
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          2  make sure that everybody in Brooklyn knows the value

          3  of reading to their very youngest ones.

          4                 You might have seen the 80's bus

          5  shelters that had Brooklyn Reads to Babies, and gave

          6  a little bit of information about why that matters,

          7  and a beautiful illustration that we had permission

          8  to use from the illustrator of a wonderful

          9  children's book, throughout Brooklyn.  I loved

         10  seeing them everywhere I went. It was really great.

         11                 We also have flyers printed up in

         12  five languages. They are flyers that will tell you

         13  what to expect from your year old baby, your

         14  eighteen month old baby, and so on.  So that parents

         15  will know.  And those flyers are available in as

         16  many places as we can get them, doctor's offices,

         17  children's stores, churches, temples, grocery

         18  stores, everywhere.  So that anywhere that people

         19  might go with their babies, they are likely to find

         20  this, and pick it up in their language.

         21                 It is really interesting, we now know

         22  that reading to babies does make a difference in how

         23  their brains develop.  And I had somebody tell me

         24  just a couple of weeks ago, you know, I thought you

         25  really did not have to talk to babies until they
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          2  could talk back.  So, I think we are changing that

          3  idea in Brooklyn, and we are making sure that people

          4  know that.  And that is what Brooklyn Reads to

          5  Babies is all about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Did you say that

          7  they do not necessarily have to come to the library

          8  to do that?

          9                 MS. COOPER: That is right.  Brooklyn

         10  Public Library does this publicity campaign, and if

         11  people know it comes from the library and they can

         12  go to the libraries to get more, great.  And that

         13  information is available.  But really, more than I

         14  want them to come into the library, I want them to

         15  read to their babies.  And that can happen in a

         16  whole variety of ways.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Great.  Now,

         18  there have been programs run at the Brooklyn Public

         19  Libraries that have been so popular that you have

         20  started, I believe, a lottery system in some

         21  branches, is that true?

         22                 MS. COOPER: Yes, there are some of

         23  our communities that have so many families and

         24  children where these programs are so popular.  In

         25  your district, for example, we have doubled and in
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          2  some cases, added three programs, not just one, not

          3  just two, but three repetitions per week, of the

          4  same program.  And we just cannot fulfill the need.

          5  So, we have asked people to register and to register

          6  by a deadline and sometimes we do resort to a

          7  lottery.            I have been in a fairly small

          8  library in your district and had about 40 or 45

          9  kids, care givers, strollers, you can imagine how

         10  crowded it is.  So, we do try to find a way that we

         11  can both add programs and make sure that when people

         12  get there, there will be room for them, and it will

         13  be a quality program.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Now if there is

         15   -- if parents cannot get into a particular program

         16  at a local branch, but the same program exists

         17  somewhere else in the borough, do you refer them to

         18  those programs?

         19                 MS. COOPER: Yes, and that often

         20  helps.  You know, we are so lucky in Brooklyn, you

         21  are never more than half a mile from a public

         22  library.  So, that means they are fairly close to

         23  each other.  And I know of parents who travel

         24  sometimes by subway with their kids to go to a

         25  branch, because they know that will not be quite so

                                                            50

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  busy as the others.  And it is true.  Our

          3  neighborhoods differ a great deal.  Some have a lot

          4  of families and children available for programming

          5  during the day, some do not.  So, we do try to make

          6  sure that people know where they can come.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: You mention the

          8  transportation issue.  Even for older students, if

          9  you have different programs throughout the borough,

         10  do you provide any type of transportation among the

         11  branches?

         12                 MS. COOPER: We do not provide that

         13  transportation, but we do tell people how to get

         14  there.  If you look on our web page and the

         15  information that we hand out at the branches, it

         16  tells you how to get from one library to another, by

         17  bus or by subway. So, we try and help in that way.

         18                 And we also willingly make sure that

         19  people know where those other programs are.  As much

         20  as possible, we try to make sure that our programs

         21  are regional, so that if we have a program at only a

         22  few locations, it will be locations we have

         23  identified, because they are particularly good, and

         24  because they are particularly accessible for people.

         25                 Would I do them all everywhere? Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Right.  I know,

          3  with the right amount of funding, right?

          4                 MS. COOPER: Right, exactly.  Do you

          5  want us to talk about how much that would be?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: That is great.

          7  Now you mentioned the Federal money for the Reading

          8  is Fundamental, the books, they fund the books.  We

          9  assume that is going to continue, right?

         10                 MS. COOPER: Yes, that is continuing.

         11  They have, in fact, expanded it with a new program

         12  called First RIF, for the very youngest ones.  And

         13  in our libraries, you will see book trucks and boxes

         14  full of paperback books.  And those are the books

         15  that they have purchased for that, and they are kept

         16  specifically for that purpose, and available for the

         17  kids to choose once they pass that. I have read

         18  every week and have done the work that they are

         19  supposed to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: It is

         21  interesting.  I just heard a story at one of my

         22  local libraries of this program where a seven year

         23  old came in and told the person who was running the

         24  RIF Program, he had asked how may books did you read

         25  in the past, I guess, two weeks, I think, two weeks?
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          2                 MS. COOPER: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And the seven

          4  year old said, thirty.  And I think the way I heard

          5  it, the librarian, or whoever is running the

          6  program, asked her three times, thirty.  And she

          7  kept saying thirty books.  And she was in her glory

          8  to have to be able to choose the books that are on

          9  that selected group.

         10                 MS. COOPER: How fun.  That is

         11  wonderful.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, it

         13  certainly, it seems to be something that, as you

         14  say, and the library you mentioned here, that they

         15  were out the door --

         16                 MS. COOPER: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: -- Showing,

         18  coming with the number of books that they have read.

         19

         20                 MS. COOPER: If I might --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Yes.

         22                 MS. COOPER: If I might say something

         23  related to this, because it ties into our summer

         24  reading program, as well.  It may well be that

         25  little girl, it was a little girl?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Yes.

          3                 MS. COOPER: -- Is a reader, no matter

          4  what.  And there are kids like that.  The ones we

          5  really work to reach and the ones that the funding

          6  is especially helpful for, are those kids that are

          7  not natural readers, who would choose to watch

          8  television, or play outside, or something else.  And

          9  those kids need to read, too.  The only way you get

         10  to be a good reader is to practice it. So, that is

         11  one of the reasons we place such emphasis on our

         12  summer reading program and on Reading is

         13  Fundamental.

         14                 And that is why we use our funding

         15  for special incentives.  You know, whether it is an

         16  eraser with something special on it or a pass to an

         17  area movie or something.  We will bribe those kids

         18  to get them to read.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Now do you have

         20  a RIF program in every branch?

         21                 MS. COOPER: Judy, do we?  Yes, we do.

         22    I am joined by Judy Zuckerman, who is the

         23  Coordinator for Youth Services and she has given me

         24  the right answer for that, which is yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Okay.  And I
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          2  would be curious to see about the program in the

          3  other boroughs, but we will check.           Now the

          4  Wallace Foundation grant you said is a $2 million

          5  dollar grant.

          6                 MS. COOPER: Over three years --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Over three

          8  years.

          9                 MS. COOPER: -- To the three

         10  libraries, $6 million total.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Now, if you have

         12  to replace that, is that going to be the cost?  Have

         13  you estimated it?

         14                 MS. COOPER: There are some things we

         15  will not do. So, for example, we rolled out that

         16  Everyone Serves Youth training and we have that

         17  curriculum now.  So, although we continue to change

         18  it and update it, we will not have to begin again to

         19  do that.  We will be able to build on what we have.

         20                 What we have looked at, is exactly

         21  what it would cost to continue the kind of

         22  enrichment for programs, and by the number of

         23  curriculum related materials that we have been able

         24  to buy with that grant.  We know we will need

         25  something close to half a million dollars next year,
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          2  to be able to even begin to continue those programs.

          3

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: If this has been

          5  so successful with NYCHA, have they offered anything

          6  in terms of funding?

          7                 MS. COOPER: I got this plaque, and

          8  they have identified the youth for us and have been

          9  very appreciative of it, and have been very good

         10  partners in it.  They have not offered any cash.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Have you asked?

         12                 MS. COOPER: I mentioned it, but I am

         13  not sure I mentioned it at an appropriate level to

         14  see that if it happened. Perhaps if you mentioned

         15  it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: That is an

         17  interesting thought, that if they are that enamored

         18  with the program.

         19                 MS. COOPER: We really have

         20  appreciated their support and it has been a great

         21  thing to be doing together.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Is there

         23  anything, any demographic, or any aspect of Youth

         24  Services that you think you have not addressed, or

         25  not addressed adequately, that you would like to do
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          2  it in the future?

          3                 MS. COOPER: You know, the people who

          4  have the least access to technology in the United

          5  States are poor kids in big cities.  I would do a

          6  whole lot more in that area, double the number of

          7  computers we have at branches, have a way for there

          8  to be even more computer training that goes on.  We

          9  have a classification, you have heard us talking

         10  about it before, the Technical Resource Specialists.

         11    And they sometimes do impromptu classes for five

         12  or six kids that gather around.  It is that sort of

         13  work that will help the kids in Brooklyn succeed, as

         14  they move forward.  And anything we can do to help

         15  that, is really what we are all about.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, that type of

         17  training is really --

         18                 MS. COOPER: And just plain computers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Just having the

         20  hardware.

         21                 MS. COOPER: That is right.  Right.

         22  We still have branches -- I was at Brownsville last

         23  week for a meeting, and at that location, I think we

         24  had six adult computers and six children's

         25  computers, so twelve, and every time I was there,
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          2  they were not only all busy, but there were kids and

          3  adults waiting for what they had.  So, I would

          4  double that easily.  And I would love to do it at

          5  every location.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.  I know we have other members, and thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Council Member,

         10  Lou Fidler.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Other than the

         12  Teen Ambassador Program, can you tell us what other

         13  programs the CASA money is being used for?

         14                 MS. COOPER: Yes, I would be happy to.

         15    We used it for special programming in the

         16  branches, about $100 thousand dollars went for that,

         17  so about a third of the money.  And what I mean when

         18  I say special programming is, for a long time, since

         19  2001, our library was the place where lots of kids

         20  hung out, but they were not necessarily occupied in

         21  some positive way, and in an enriching or learning

         22  way.  And so, that allows us to bring in special

         23  programs after school for the very youngest ones to

         24  do film programs, and game programs, and the kind of

         25  thing that makes them look forward to coming to the
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          2  library.  So, that was a very important piece of

          3  that.

          4                 The Teen Ambassadors, we spent about

          5  $80 thousand dollars toward the Teen Ambassadors.

          6  We bought library books, particularly we bought

          7  books that would have a relationship to the

          8  programming that we had done, the Story Telling or

          9  the How to Get a Job as a Teenager, or whatever the

         10  program is that might be.  We bought the books that

         11  would supplement that and augment it.

         12                 And I talked about making sure that

         13  kids read, giving them what they needed, so that

         14  happened.  We spent about $40 thousand dollars on

         15  promotional material and reading incentives for the

         16  youngest children.

         17                 We had some money, some of it the

         18  Wallace money to buy snacks for kids at about half

         19  of our branches after school. And a lot of those

         20  kids come very hungry at the end of the day. And

         21  that has been useful to do.  I was made aware of

         22  that by one of the librarians at our Macon Branch,

         23  who talked about spending her own money for snacks,

         24  you know, not much, just something, so the kids

         25  would come after school and in that time right at
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          2  the end of the school day, when they might not have

          3  money in their pockets, the kids would have a snack

          4  of some kind to eat.  So, we have used some of our

          5  private money for that, too.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do you have any

          7  data on how many young people you are serving with

          8  these programs?

          9                 MS. COOPER: I do not have that --

         10  does anybody have it?  We do not.  I can tell you

         11  that we can provide it for you, and I can tell you

         12  that I have attended a number of those programs and

         13  they are very full, they are very busy.  And they

         14  are very popular.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, I am sure

         16  it is no different than any of our other youth

         17  programs where it just never, there is never enough

         18  money to provide enough slots, sufficient quality

         19  level to meet the demand.  I mean, we know that

         20  about Youth Services in the City, and as I was

         21  listening to Councilman Recchia talk about the 5:30

         22  time, I was not at all surprised that when you said,

         23  hey, just come at 3:00 because the inadequacy of

         24  youth programming outside of the library is such

         25  that there are many, many, many schools that do not
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          2  have after school outlets.  And those kids do wind

          3  up coming to the library at 3:00 quite frequently.

          4                 Do any of the youth programs that you

          5  operate have an ESL component?

          6                 MS. COOPER: We do a lot of ESL work

          7  and some of the work that we do is with young

          8  people, as well.  We specifically help with homework

          9  in a whole variety of ways with a variety of

         10  volunteer help, and help with high schoolers for the

         11  very youngest ones, for the elementary school kids.

         12  So, reading help is one of the things that we do.

         13                 It is very interesting, we also have

         14  some community programs that operate in the

         15  libraries.  I know when I am at branches, I will

         16  sometimes see an adult reading with three or four

         17  kids and they are a part of a tutor program of one

         18  kind or another. So, it does go on at our library.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.  I would

         20  just ask that you get us the data that you have on

         21  the youth programs and as well, I mean I have had

         22  the opportunity to sit down with you and look at

         23  your rather healthy capital budget request for

         24  Brooklyn.  What is not in that request, is the

         25  computer component that you just mentioned.  And it
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          2  struck me as being something incredibly valuable at

          3  a relatively insignificant cost.  I would imagine we

          4  could provide the doubling of the computer

          5  terminals, if you have the available space for less

          6  than what it is going to cost me to replace the roof

          7  at Flatlands.  So, I would hope that you could get

          8  that to us because I think that is something that

          9  really does cry out, particularly in low income

         10  communities that need to have more available

         11  terminals.  If you have lines at the computer

         12  terminals, there is a reason.  It does bring kids

         13  into the library, as well, and computers are part of

         14  being a literate adult today.  So, a young person

         15  really needs to have those computer skills, as well

         16  as the reading and writing skills, as well.

         17                 MS. COOPER: You will get that

         18  information from us. In fact, we have recently, in

         19  the last few weeks, been working in gathering that

         20  to identify what it would cost us to do that.  We

         21  still need that roof.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And I am also,

         23  you know, I am troubled by what I have heard about

         24  the loss of the Wallace Foundation money, which is,

         25  in fact, more money than the CASA money.  So you
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          2  know, while we have provided the CASA money to help

          3  you along, the disappearance of the Wallace

          4  Foundation money is going to put you behind the

          5  eight ball.  So, I think that is something that we

          6  need to be very, very mindful of as we go into the

          7  executive budget season.

          8                 MS. COOPER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You hear that?

         12  Two million each library system, the Wallace

         13  Foundation.  Make sure you put that down in your

         14  notes to the Mayor.  I want to make sure that you

         15  make it very clear.  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.  I just have a question in reference to

         18  the foundation money.  Does each individual branch

         19  library, do they write their own solicitation for

         20  funding, or is it by Central only?

         21                 MS. COOPER: We do it centrally.

         22  There is some money that comes to individual

         23  branches through the Friends Group, or sometimes

         24  through other local groups that make that choice.

         25  But money like the Wallace money and the Star
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          2  Foundation money, is solicited and managed

          3  centrally.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And how is

          5  it determined which branch gets these dollars?

          6                 MS. COOPER: Well, sometimes it is

          7  everybody.  So, for example, if we buy $100 thousand

          8  dollars worth of books that are related to the

          9  school curriculum, those will be spread throughout

         10  the library system.  Sometimes the criteria for the

         11  grant suggests the community, or we suggest the

         12  community.

         13                 For example, the Teen Ambassador

         14  Program, we identified the branches that are close

         15  to NYCHA locations, so that partnership would be a

         16  fruitful one, and would work very well.  So, through

         17  a variety of ways.  Sometimes we look at communities

         18  that we know will have special needs.  There are

         19  some communities, The First Five Years Spaces, for

         20  example, we identified the ten libraries out of the

         21  60 in the borough of Brooklyn, that have the highest

         22  number of kids from birth to five years old, through

         23  the census information.  And we were able to make

         24  sure that those were the libraries we were targeting

         25  for that.  So, it comes from a variety of ways.
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          2  Does that answer your question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes, it

          4  does.  I am just trying to get a general idea, even

          5  though my questioning is somewhat not related to the

          6  topic, in terms of the after school program, but in

          7  terms of the determination in terms of which library

          8  gets funding for what.  I am having a hard time

          9  understanding a particular issue in my district

         10  where classes for non- English speaking adults, in

         11  this case, was terminated and transferred over to

         12  Riverdale, where they have a lesser population of

         13  non- English speakers, and having that population

         14  transferred to the library over in Riverdale.   It

         15  did not make any sense to me. So, I am trying to

         16  understand how determination from Central are made

         17  in terms of the disbursement of money for programs,

         18  and even for infrastructure in the library, is where

         19  my questioning comes from.  And especially when I

         20  hear that Council Member Gentile has so much more

         21  programs in Brooklyn.  But I would just -- I am

         22  trying to figure that out.

         23                 MS. COOPER: I do not know that

         24  specific situation, but I will tell you.  We have

         25  made some decisions based on the space that is
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          2  available.  So, for example, there are a couple of

          3  our libraries where we would love to have literacy

          4  programs.  And we have a literacy center fairly near

          5  the two neighborhoods that I am thinking of.  But we

          6  do not have space at those locations to be able to

          7  offer that program.  So, who knows what the reason

          8  is, as I am sure you will be able to find that out.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Council Member

         10  Martinez, you will have that opportunity to ask the

         11  question when the New York system testifies.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I will.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right.  I

         15  just want to ask a few questions and then I will be

         16  concluding.  The kids -- you say you start a new

         17  program where you are providing snacks for children

         18  coming after school, okay.  And how much does that

         19  program cost you?

         20                 MS. COOPER: Judy, can you tell me?

         21  Each location that participates in this program has

         22  about eight hundred bucks for the year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Eight hundred

         24  dollars for the year?

         25                 MS. COOPER: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I guess that is

          3  inadequate for the whole school year.  Would I be

          4  correct?

          5                 MS. COOPER: Well, it is certainly not

          6  lavish.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Of course you

          8  buy them cookies and maybe --

          9                 MS. COOPER: Yes.  And they come, and

         10  it is not even that they are laid out for kids to

         11  just take.  It is that they are a part of what

         12  happens, when they come to a program.  So, they come

         13  to a program and a snack is available as part of

         14  that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And you should

         16  be very successful.

         17                 MS. COOPER: We have found it to be

         18  very successful.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.  And now I

         20  hear that you have a cry out for more computers.  Do

         21  you need more computers in certain areas, in low

         22  income areas, is that correct?

         23                 MS. COOPER: Particularly, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because this is

         25  something that I would like to talk to you about
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          2  more, that maybe the Council has to put together an

          3  initiative for more computers throughout the three

          4  library systems, if I feel that there is a need for

          5  that, if you are telling me that.  You know, if we

          6  were able to get you some more computers, do you

          7  have a place to put them?  Like Councilman Lou

          8  Fidler said, we are not going to give you more

          9  computers if you cannot use them and have the staff

         10  to, you know, program them and teach them and move

         11  forward with them.

         12                 MS. COOPER: Our colleagues at Queens

         13  in New York, have been very successful doing carts,

         14  that laptops sit on --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, the laptop

         16  wireless carts.

         17                 MS. COOPER: Right, and I would love

         18  to have those out and available in many of our

         19  libraries, especially those after school hours, but

         20  other times, too.  I think our colleagues will tell

         21  you that is an important need for them, as well.

         22  And we are learning from them how to do that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Is there a

         24  safety issue with that?  Or people walking out of

         25  the libraries with the laptops?  Is there, you know,
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          2  do --

          3                 MS. COOPER: Our colleagues and people

          4  in other parts of the country have figured out how

          5  to solve that so it does not happen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I will follow it

          7  up with your public library.

          8                 MS. COOPER: I think you have to leave

          9  a sibling there when you take the computer, and you

         10  do not get the child back unless you --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, I just

         12  want to point out one thing.  I know, and I am

         13  posing this suggestion to you and other library

         14  systems.  We, as Council members, send out

         15  newsletters.  And it would be great if the three

         16  library systems would let every Council member in

         17  that borough know of what programs you have in the

         18  library, so we can put those in our newsletter.

         19                 MS. COOPER: That is a great idea.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You see, because

         21  too many times there is no communication between the

         22  library systems and the Council member.  So, what I

         23  am suggesting, especially for the summer, I am sure

         24  you are going to have summer programs, correct?    MS

         25  . COOPER: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And for the

          3  youth, and what I am suggesting, and if you want to

          4  get me the information and I will get it out to all

          5  my colleagues, if you could tell us what is going on

          6  in your library system, in the branches, and let us

          7  know. Because many of my colleagues are putting

          8  together newsletters right now.  And I think it

          9  would be great to send out newsletters informing our

         10  constituents of what is going on in the branches

         11  throughout, you know, in our district.

         12                 So, if you could put that together

         13  and get it out to every Council member, you know,

         14  the boroughs, of what is going on with those

         15  libraries in each one of the Council member

         16  districts --

         17                 MS. COOPER: We would be happy to do

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: -- I would

         20  really appreciate that, and if you could CC to me,

         21  and get it to us and you could send that to Mari De

         22  Pedro or Josh Nachowitz, so we could just see what

         23  is happening all over.  Because we want to dispense

         24  with this information as much as possible.  Melissa?

         25    You have a question?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Yes,

          3  thank you.  I think I heard you say that the Teen

          4  Ambassadors Program is at a cost of $80 thousand

          5  dollars?

          6                 MS. COOPER: That is right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: And is

          8  that at the full 16 branches?

          9                 MS. COOPER: No, that is at, yes, that

         10  is at the full 16 branches.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Okay.

         12  And how many developments?

         13                 MS. COOPER: Do you know the answer to

         14  that one Steve?  We think it is 16.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: So, it

         16  is two per -- okay, because it says here two per

         17  branch, okay.

         18                 MS. COOPER: It is two young people

         19  that we employ through the grant.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Right.

         21  And what is the stipend?

         22                 MS. COOPER: Oh, it is pretty --

         23  minimum wage or something just close to that.  And

         24  they work ten hours a week, is that right?  Fifteen

         25  hours a week.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Fifteen

          3  hours a week.            MS. COOPER: And we had

          4  begun that program with the Wallace money and then

          5  we expanded it with the $80 thousand dollars from

          6  the CASA funds.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Right.

          8  No, but you say it is 15 hours a week, you give them

          9  minimum wage.  What is the period of times, is this

         10  a summer thing?  Or --

         11                 MS. COOPER: No, it is actually during

         12  the school year.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: During

         14  the school year.

         15                 MS. COOPER: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: All

         17  right, thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Miss Cooper, if

         19  you could write out an explanation of the program,

         20  just so I could sent it out to every Council member

         21  who seems interested in this, maybe they want to

         22  pursue it and we will look into it.  It is a great

         23  program.  And the only thing I would say, I would

         24  leave off with this is, that the Council gets

         25  recognition for this program also.
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          2                 MS. COOPER: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And that it is

          4  just not the housing authority and the library.  But

          5  it is the housing authority, the New York City

          6  Council and the library together as a joint effort.

          7  Because too many times, we, in the City Council have

          8  not gotten recognition, and under the leadership of

          9  Speaker Christine Quinn, that will no longer take

         10  place.  Because we are no longer going to sit by and

         11  see funding from the City Council and we, as

         12  members, not getting the recognition.  And that has

         13  to stop because we work very hard to support the

         14  three library systems.

         15                 Hold on.  Okay, Council Member Mark

         16  Viverito.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Thank

         18  you.  Just another question.  Do your libraries or

         19  the branches serve as a SYEP site?  Do you partner

         20  up with SYEP?

         21                 MS. COOPER: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Okay.

         23  Have you, by chance, are any of those, I am assuming

         24  that the Teen Ambassadors, is that a relatively new

         25  program?
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          2                 MS. COOPER: It is a brand new

          3  program.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Okay.

          5  Have you thought about maybe having some of those

          6  SYEP parents be the Teen Ambassadors?  Is that one

          7  of the projects that they could do?

          8                 MS. COOPER: We can certainly look at

          9  that.  I do not know if we have yet, you know, we

         10  are still trying to see if the Teen Ambassador

         11  Program will continue.  This was the first time we

         12  offered it.  The Youth Employment kids are very

         13  valuable to us and we use them as many places as we

         14  can.  And this is a great idea.

         15                 One of the ideas in both the Summer

         16  Youth Employment and Teen Ambassadors is the best

         17  way you motivate kids and engage them, is actually

         18  to give them paying jobs.  This is not a whole lot

         19  of money, but it is -- you get different kids than

         20  you would if you offered them the opportunity to

         21  volunteer.  And I think that serves a good purpose

         22  for us, it is a good suggestion.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

         24  you for testifying here today, and we look forward

         25  to working with you.
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          2                 MS. COOPER: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Make sure you

          4  contact Jake Herring to set up an appointment so we

          5  can sit down and talk.

          6                 MS. COOPER: Good.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That is all

          8  three library systems, make sure you -- because we

          9  have to have that meeting for funding.  Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Next I call up the New York Public

         12  Library System.

         13                 Go ahead.  You have to turn it on.

         14                 MS. KENT: Good morning Chairman

         15  Recchia, Chairman Fidler and Chairman Gentile and

         16  members of the City Council.  I am Susan Kent, the

         17  Director and Chief Executive of the Branch Libraries

         18  for the New York Public Library.  And please excuse

         19  my voice.  I could not have spoken at all on Friday,

         20  so I am getting better.

         21                 I do appreciate the opportunity to

         22  talk to you this morning about the importance of

         23  youth programming at the New York Public Library.  I

         24  would like to tell you a story.  Earlier in my

         25  career, I had the opportunity as a Director of
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          2  another library system, to be at the opening of

          3  their renovated branch and meet a young boy and his

          4  mother.  The mother told me the little boy was about

          5  nine years old, that he had been waiting for this

          6  branch to be re- opened so he could come after

          7  school and during the summer to use the library.

          8  And he loved the library.  And I pointed out the

          9  children's area to him and he ran off excitedly.

         10  About a half an hour later, he came up to me and he

         11  said, this is the best place in the whole world.

         12  And that comment from that nine year old boy,

         13  actually solidified my belief that the library

         14  should be, and could be, the best place in the whole

         15  world for children in every City.

         16                 As you heard from Ginny Cooper, we

         17  all do a lot in terms of after school programs.  And

         18  I think if you think about it, the public Libraries

         19  of New York are the largest free after school

         20  program in the City.  Every day in every library, we

         21  see many, many, many kids and we are booming.

         22                 Several weeks ago I had the

         23  opportunity with Councilman Gentile, to be at the

         24  Webster branch library for a CASA program.  It was a

         25  wonderful program that was put on by the Children's
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          2  Museum of Manhattan for kids from six to eight years

          3  old, to enable them to learn about color and light

          4  and painting and primary colors and how you mix

          5  colors together.  And the kids were very excited,

          6  and they used paint to create color wheels and

          7  understand the notion of what color was, what light

          8  was, all of those things.  It was very colorful and

          9  I am sure their moms and dads when they got home and

         10  saw the paint all over their clothing, were just

         11  equally thrilled.

         12                 But that opportunity that day, again,

         13  solidified the importance of public programming for

         14  children in the libraries. After the program was

         15  over, we went into the children's area.  It was full

         16  of kids and parents reading books together.  And we

         17  believe that at the New York Public Library, that

         18  our commitment to providing enriching programs for

         19  children and young adults in the 85 branch libraries

         20  throughout the Bronx, Manhattan and Staten Island,

         21  is an indication of the soundness of this City

         22  Council's investments of the efforts of the CASA

         23  program.  You have recognized the critical roles

         24  that libraries play in our children's education.

         25  And on behalf of our fifteen million users, I thank
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          2  you for your continued support.

          3                 I wanted to just read a couple of

          4  comments that we had from kids who went to CASA

          5  programs.  One from Veronia says, I learned amazing

          6  facts about bats, and I found that the library is a

          7  great place for learning, and I hope to come to

          8  every program.

          9                 And then this one is my favorite.

         10  This program was awesome.  We learned about theater,

         11  poetry and imagination.

         12                 And that is what Library is about.

         13  It is about education, creativity and imagination.

         14                 Last year, the New York Public

         15  Library offered nearly 13,000 children's programs in

         16  the branches that were attended by more than 257,000

         17  young people and their care givers. Programs

         18  included story telling, arts and crafts, and musical

         19  presentations, such as, Hear the Beat, Poetry is for

         20  You, a weekly series designed to encourage children

         21  to write poetry.

         22                 This is one of my favorites, READ

         23  with Mudge, in which we have engaged the services of

         24  believe it or not, reading assistance dogs, Reading

         25  Education Assistance Dogs, to improve the literacy
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          2  skills of children through the assistance of

          3  registered and trained pet partner therapy teams.

          4  We found actually, that children who have difficulty

          5  reading are more likely to sit with a lovely Golden

          6  Retriever and read to that dog and feel no sense of

          7  nervousness or anxiety about reading to a trained

          8  therapy dog, than they do with an adult.  And this

          9  has been an incredibly successful program for us.

         10                 We have also done a program called

         11  Traveling the World, a weekly library program that

         12  includes presentations by the Garibaldi Meucci

         13  Museum, The Staten Island Institute of Arts and

         14  Sciences, and the Aquarium for Wildlife

         15  Preservation.  Young adult programs are also very

         16  popular and range from Meet the Author forums, to

         17  poetry readings, to Create Your Own Novel workshops.

         18                 You have heard from Ginny Cooper

         19  about the Wallace Foundation and again, I would like

         20  to acknowledge their very magnificent three year

         21  gift, it was a special gift after 9- 11 to encourage

         22  learning and Libraries.  The New York Public Library

         23  as our part of the branch has created what we call

         24  the Youth Now Out of School programming initiative

         25  focusing on the literacy enrichment after school

                                                            79

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  program LEAP and Teen Advisory Groups.

          3                 The goal of LEAP is to provide

          4  enriching after school experiences for children, by

          5  providing activities that promote literacy, and

          6  encourage reading at their branch on a consistent

          7  basis.  The LEAP format works for a large variety of

          8  needs and interests, from theater workshops, to

          9  author discussions to museum related activities.

         10                 The Teen Advisory Groups have proven

         11  very popular with our teens.  These groups of young

         12  people meet weekly or biweekly at libraries, under

         13  the supervision of our project manager.  The teens

         14  provide recommendations of activities, guest

         15  speakers, collection development, they actually

         16  recommend what books we should buy, to ensure that

         17  library programs and services remain relevant and

         18  appealing to their fellow teenagers.

         19                 You know, in the world of teenagers,

         20  what you learn from your friends, is very important.

         21    And what the kids recommend to other kids in the

         22  library become a way to get more and more young

         23  people to library branches.  The Teen Advisory

         24  Groups are a creative way to engage neighborhood

         25  youth, energy and creativity.
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          2                 One of the major initiatives of the

          3  Wallace Foundation is one that I am most proud of,

          4  which is the creation of the HomeworkNYC.org

          5  website.  This website was created in a partnership

          6  between the three library systems and the Department

          7  of Education, the schools in New York City.  It is a

          8  joint venture totally.  HomeworkNYC.org gives

          9  children help with their schoolwork from home,

         10  school, or in any of our libraries.  On the website,

         11  we bring together a wide variety of information in

         12  one easy to use sight.  It helps students pinpoint

         13  the answers they need, and because it has been

         14  developed by a team of librarians and educators,

         15  young students can trust the information is thorough

         16  and reliable.  And it is all tied directly to the

         17  curriculum of the New York City Public Schools.  So,

         18  we are very, very excited by that and we are seeing

         19  a dynamic increase in the youths since we launched

         20  the website several months ago.

         21                 Most of our programming at the New

         22  York Public Library is funded through private

         23  donations, corporate foundations or individuals, and

         24  through the New York City Council's CASA program.

         25  The $300 thousand dollars you provided to us this
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          2  year, has allowed the library to invest in

          3  successful ongoing programming at 49 of our

          4  branches.  Our money has been spent directly on the

          5  programming, on the programming only.  Through CASA,

          6  we have been able to fund workshops, hosted by other

          7  cultural groups, as well as develop series

          8  programming that encourages return visits to the

          9  library.

         10                 We have also been able to invest in

         11  better quality programming, including science

         12  programs and photography workshops and in the past,

         13  we simply were not able to offer due to financial

         14  constraints.  We hope that the adopted budget

         15  includes CASA funding so that we will be able to

         16  continue to offer the highest quality programming to

         17  our young constituents, and your young constituents

         18  next year.

         19                 I want to talk about cooperation with

         20  the schools, because I think that is very, very

         21  important.  We work very hard with the Department of

         22  Education.   At the New York Public Library, our

         23  children's librarians in each of our branches, our

         24  young adult librarians who are trained to work with

         25  middle and high school students, go out and visit
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          2  their schools, they make contact with the teachers,

          3  with the media specialists if there are media

          4  centers in the schools, and with the principals.  We

          5  work with parent teacher organizations.  We staff

          6  open school nights and sign people up for library

          7  cards.  We have been working through the parent

          8  coordinators at the schools to also provide

          9  information and outreach to the schools.  And we are

         10  working very hard to make sure that the students,

         11  the teachers and the parents, know the collaborative

         12  services that the New York Public Library provides

         13  in cooperation with the schools in New York.

         14                 I wanted to say a few words, as well,

         15  about some of the employment opportunities since

         16  they were discussed in the questioning.  We have

         17  something called Computer Pages.  Those are high

         18  school students that we hire from the neighborhood,

         19  to help people with computers in our libraries.  And

         20  we raise the money to hire these Computer Pages,

         21  again, minimum wage jobs through private funds,

         22  through donations.  And we have a number of

         23  organizations and foundations that have been

         24  tremendously supportive over the years of the

         25  Computer Page Program.
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          2                 Our children's area and our teen

          3  areas in our libraries also need a lot of help.  And

          4  we have an initiative at the New York Public

          5  Library, to raise private funding to renovate and

          6  change some of our children and teen areas.  For

          7  example, the Fort Washington Branch Library in your

          8  Council district, we have a wonderful grant from the

          9  Pick Our Foundation, which is going to allow us to

         10  totally renovate the Children's Room at the Fort

         11  Washington Library.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank God.  Let

         13  me tell you something.  I have to tell you

         14  something.  That Fort Washington Library is a

         15  disaster.  And I am going to tell you something, in

         16  this budget, I am going to sit down with Miguel

         17  Martinez, because there is no longer, we are going

         18  to sit by and let that branch operate the way it

         19  does upstairs, I am not going to go on.  You know,

         20  it is --

         21                 MS. KENT: I agree with you

         22  completely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I think it is

         24  the worst library in this City of New York.  That is

         25  how bad it is.  No, it is true, Miguel.  I get more

                                                            84

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  complaints about that library than any other

          3  library.  And it is a priority.  I just want you to

          4  know that.  It is on our radar screen.

          5                 MS. KENT: And that is why we have

          6  solicited special funding to allow us to redo the

          7  entire Children's Room.  We have a wonderful

          8  architect who has a tremendous design, where at the

          9  end of the design phase and thanks to the Pick Our

         10  Foundation, we are going to be able to do it.  But I

         11  agree with you.  As I tour branches, as I walked

         12  into the Fort Washington Library, I had the same

         13  reaction.  It is an incredibly busy branch, like all

         14  of our branches.  And it deserves to be in much

         15  better shape.

         16                 Unfortunately, Councilman, I would

         17  say that throughout the five boroughs of New York,

         18  we have many libraries that deserve to be in way

         19  better shape than they are.

         20                 So, we are going to be doing Fort

         21  Washington, the Melrose branch in the Bronx is one

         22  of our libraries we have just completed, the Van

         23  Ness branch in the Bronx.  We are looking at teen

         24  spaces in particular, modeled on the teen library at

         25  the Donnell Library Center.  The new Bronx Library

                                                            85

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  teen center and children's area are wonderful, and

          3  we want to be able to do that as well in other

          4  libraries, and we have some money now to do a new

          5  teen center at the St. George Library Center in

          6  Staten Island.

          7                 So, I would urge you to continue to

          8  ask us questions.  I wanted to say a little bit

          9  about the Wallace Foundation.  You heard from Ginny

         10  Cooper.  They did a magnificent job for a couple of

         11  reasons.  They are very interested in seeing us all

         12  work together on serving young people.  Each of the

         13  three library systems took the lead.  We worked

         14  together as a Tri Light Organization and meet all

         15  the time.  Each of the three library systems took

         16  the lead on one part of this plan, the Brooklyn

         17  Public Library put together Everyone Serves Youths.

         18  And each of our library systems actually has done

         19  that program for all of our staff, in Queens and at

         20  New York Public Library, as well.  The Queens Public

         21  Library has taken the lead on the summer reading

         22  program and the New York Public Library on homework

         23  help.  We are working together to determine what our

         24  budgetary needs are for those kinds of initiatives

         25  in the years ahead.  We hope to share them with you
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          2  and with private funders, as well.

          3                 I hope that you continue to show this

          4  interest in Libraries, because it is very heartening

          5  to all of us.  We know how our libraries are being

          6  used.  We know that parents count on us to serve

          7  their children.  We know that kids count on us to be

          8  open. And one of the most important things about

          9  children's programming, is that there are libraries

         10  open with longer hours, so that kids and parents can

         11  come in, and that there are libraries that have

         12  really good book collections in them, so that the

         13  kids that we are encouraging to read and learn, will

         14  have books to check out when they leave.  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         17  much.  And I just, you know, we definitely have to

         18  sit down and talk about the Library and especially,

         19  one of my colleagues, Miguel Martinez's district.

         20                 So, the program that you were talking

         21  about, the Computer Pages, that is where you hire

         22  teens from the neighborhood?

         23                 MS. KENT: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And how many

         25  libraries is that program in?
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          2                 MS. KENT: I think it is in about 30

          3  or 40 right now, and we are --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Is that just in

          5  New York City or in the Bronx or Staten Island, or

          6  total?

          7                 MS. KENT: No, it is Manhattan, the

          8  Bronx and Staten Island.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, and how

         10  much does that program cost you, approximately?

         11                 MS. KENT: I can get that information.

         12    I am not really sure right now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, I would

         14  appreciate that. And that program is just during the

         15  school year?

         16                 MS. KENT: No, it is both during the

         17  school year and during the summer, as well.  It is a

         18  wonderful employment opportunity.  For young people

         19  we also use the Summer Youth Employment Program.

         20  And this year we started a pilot program with the

         21  Department of Education in some of their new smaller

         22  high schools, for kids who are close to graduating,

         23  they are older kids. They have a work study

         24  initiative, and we are providing work sites for

         25  these young people in several on them, in libraries,
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          2  as well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And again, what

          4  I am hearing from you is that many of your programs

          5  are funded with this Wallace, at $2 million dollars

          6  from the Wallace Foundation, is that correct?

          7                 MS. KENT: Some of the programs are

          8  funded by Wallace.  We have other programs that we

          9  have developed and received private funding for, as

         10  well.  And then there are the CASA programs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What are you

         12  going to do if you lose the, well, you are going to

         13  lose the money from the Wallace, okay.  How are you

         14  going to make that up, or --

         15                 MS. KENT: We have already begun to

         16  make up the cost of the homework help website.  We

         17  will be working with my colleagues in Brooklyn and

         18  Queens to put the budget together for next year, and

         19  we will take the initiative in trying to raise

         20  private funds for that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Again, I make my

         22  plea out to the Administration to hear this loud and

         23  clear, that each library system will be losing $2

         24  million dollars.  I am going to pound this home all

         25  during these hearings, because it is important for
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          2  them to know what is happening.  At this time,

          3  Vinnie Gentile.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman.  So, if I am correct then, at this point,

          6  the Wallace Foundation funds the Youth Now Out of

          7  School Time program, the LEAP program, the TAG, the

          8  Teen Advisory Program, and the HomeworkNYC.org

          9  program?

         10                 MS. KENT: That is correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, that is four

         12  programs that you currently run that you have no

         13  designated funding for, at this point?

         14                 MS. KENT: That is correct.  We are

         15  looking for private funding for some of it.  Another

         16  program, the Teen Advisory Group, can go on without

         17  funding.  We have always done programming in

         18  Libraries and we have done it, so to speak, on the

         19  cheap.  So, we encourage people to come in and work

         20  with kids.  We have given them small stipends.

         21                 The ability of what we have gotten

         22  through by CASA and the Wallace programs, was the

         23  ability to hire professionals, professional

         24  musicians, story tellers, theater people, and have

         25  series programs that are sustained over a length of
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          2  time, so that there is a real pattern of learning

          3  going on for the young people who participate.

          4                 And we will have to continue to look

          5  for alternate of funding sources for those programs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, on a scale

          7  of one to ten, how would you rate the success of

          8  these four programs?

          9                 MS. KENT: I think they have been

         10  tremendously successful.  The homework help site, I

         11  think, is something that New York City should be

         12  extremely proud of.  I think that the three library

         13  systems and the Department of Education have put

         14  together a curriculum- based, on line resource that

         15  I do not know that any other City has done.  And I

         16  think that is something that can only grow in use,

         17  as we continue to promote it and market it in the

         18  community.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Well, I think as

         20  Chairman Recchia said, that pride in New York City

         21  should be reflected in the budget and the

         22  reconsideration of the Administration, and we will

         23  drum that message home.

         24                 Just quickly, and I know other

         25  members have questions, you said that the funding
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          2  from the Wallace Foundation, funds programs that are

          3  organized in each system, but serve all systems?

          4                 MS. KENT: Well, we -- it is a little

          5  bit complicated.  The intent of the program was to

          6  have the three library systems work together.  And

          7  as the program developed, each of us picked what

          8  they referred to as a Big Bucket Program, to work

          9  on, that all three of us would participate in.  And

         10  then we each developed tailored programs to meet the

         11  needs of the people and of the kids in our branches.

         12    So, the three Big Bucket programs are Summer

         13  Reading Program, Everyone Serves Youth Training and

         14  the homework help website.  And each library took

         15  responsibility for providing the lead on each of

         16  those programs.  So, we each do it, and we all work

         17  together on all of that.  And then there are

         18  individual programs in our branches, as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, each of you

         20  pooled some of the two million that each system had

         21  into these Big Bucket programs.

         22                 MS. KENT: That is correct.  That is

         23  correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I see.  Okay.

         25  Great.  Thank you, thank you.  And continue the good
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          2  work.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRMAN RECCHIA: Lewis Fidler.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you.  I am

          5  just going to touch on the same topics I touched on

          6  with Ms. Cooper.  Can you tell me specifically what

          7  you use the CASA money for?

          8                 MS. KENT: To pay the program

          9  presenters for the programs per site, that is what

         10  we did.  We were able to do programs, many programs

         11  in 49 branches and the money was programming money,

         12  so that hiring an artist to do a series with young

         13  people about the world of color and light, to have

         14  them understand the color wheel, the science behind

         15  it, so that it is a basis for both science education

         16  and art education.  Using educators in a variety of

         17  scientific topics like animals, bats, birds, the

         18  things that go on in an aquarium.  So, it is a

         19  programmatic money for people to present those

         20  programs in the library.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: You should never

         22  say aquarium in front of Domenic Recchia.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, I just

         24  want to thank you. I have to say that it is great to

         25  hear you are doing these after school programs with
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          2  cultural institutions.  And that is what one of the

          3  main things behind CASA was, was to do after school

          4  programs with cultural institutions, to give

          5  children an insight into cultural institutions,

          6  where some of them probably never even go.         But

          7  I want to thank you, you brought a lot of joy to my

          8  heart.

          9                 MS. KENT: Well, one of the reasons

         10  why we are so delighted to be able to do programs

         11  with cultural institutions is also to cross market

         12  and promote our programming with the cultural

         13  institutions so that the Children's Museum of

         14  Manhattan promotes the Library and Library promotes

         15  the Children's Museum of Manhattan, and on and on.

         16  It creates an awareness for the children and for

         17  their parents.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That is a

         19  beautiful thing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, then it would

         21  be fair to say that the way your system uses the

         22  CASA money, is not necessarily to create new

         23  programs for young people, but to enhance them?

         24                 MS. KENT: I think it gave us the

         25  ability to create sustained programming on specific
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          2  subjects and employ as presenters, artists, museum

          3  educators, scientists to provide learning

          4  opportunities for children.  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do you have any

          6  data on the number of young people that you serve in

          7  the after school programs in your system?

          8                 MS. KENT: This past year, we served

          9  257,000 children in the last Fiscal Year, we can get

         10  you data for the CASA programs when they are

         11  complete, we are happy to do that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, I see that

         13  257,000 figure. That is just for after school

         14  programming?  That is --

         15                 MS. KENT: Those are for children's

         16  programs after school and during the summer.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, you are not

         18  even counting the number of young people that walk

         19  through libraries for just books?

         20                 MS. KENT: No, that is just attending

         21  a program.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Oh okay, that was

         23  an exceptional number, that is why I was -- I just

         24  assumed that was your gross young people figure.

         25                 MS. KENT: No, it is just one factor
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          2  of how we serve young people.  Those are program

          3  attendance numbers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.  Are any of

          5  your programs, do they have ESL components?

          6                 MS. KENT: I think there are some

          7  programs, in some of our neighborhoods, which are

          8  presented by people who speak a language other than

          9  English.  For example, in Chinatown and in some of

         10  our neighborhoods in which Spanish is the primary

         11  language.  But I do not believe we have specific ESL

         12  components in our programs for children.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And you had

         14  mentioned during your testimony, OST.  I assume that

         15  your system did not apply for OST funding

         16  specifically, is that correct?

         17                 MS. KENT: That is correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: But are any of

         19  your branches being used as OST sites?

         20                 MS. KENT: We have a lot of use of our

         21  branches by many community groups, who use them for

         22  sometimes tutoring young kids, and I am not aware

         23  that anybody is doing specifically OST, but I can

         24  find that out for you, as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I am using the
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          2  term, as the term of art, as DYCD uses it.  I mean,

          3  that is specific funding stream of OST.

          4                 MS. KENT: Right. I do not know that.

          5  But I can certainly find that out and get that

          6  information to you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And you heard Ms.

          8  Cooper testify about the inadequacy of the number of

          9  computer terminals that they have in the Brooklyn

         10  Public Library system at its branches.  Do you find

         11  the same thing to be true in the New York Public

         12  Library?

         13                 MS. KENT: Yes, and we have in our

         14  capital facilities, ask list, technology funds.  And

         15  in each borough we have determined what we need.

         16  But I would also like to say that it is not only

         17  buying the computers, it is the cost of wiring, if

         18  you are wiring the branches, putting in additional

         19  outlets.  And sometimes more importantly, hiring

         20  enough people to maintain those computers.  Right

         21  now our maintenance staff, in terms of computer

         22  technicians, is one to every 350 computer terminals,

         23  which is not a good standard.  So, as we add more,

         24  which we really do need, we would have to add more

         25  technicians to help service those computers, as
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          2  well.

          3                 But we are doing these laptops and

          4  those are very, very popular.  And that is a great

          5  way, if your branch is wired for wireless service,

          6  to be able to provide laptops for kids to use in the

          7  branch, without worrying about wiring specific

          8  areas.  And they can be used all over the building.

          9  And we have not had any problems with any loss of

         10  laptops from the branches.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You anticipated a

         12  question.  How do you prevent that?

         13                 MS. KENT: Well, everybody is pretty

         14  watchful. And actually, I think they are configured

         15  so they do not work outside of the branch.  There

         16  are some way that our technicians have configured

         17  them, so if they leave the building, they cannot do

         18  anything.  And they have not.  We have not had one

         19  problem with a laptop leaving.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, however you

         21  are doing it, it is obviously working.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Miguel Martinez.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair.  I also want to echo and thank you for

         25  your advocacy on behalf of the library up in my
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          2  district.  I know that since I got elected to the

          3  Council, this body has committed capitals for fixing

          4  the library and improving the conditions of it.

          5                 I want to follow the line of

          6  questioning that Council Member Fidler brought up,

          7  in terms of funding.  Because, you know, DYCD and

          8  the Chairman, recently forwarded all of the members

          9  of the Youth Committee, the report, the Coordinated

         10  Council on Youth Services report, which indicates

         11  how DYCD, the money allocated in Fiscal Year '05.

         12  And when we look at the New York Library, it is

         13  listed for 37 million plus.  Now the question I

         14  have, and I ask Council also, does the New York

         15  Library, Manhattan Library also cover the Bronx?

         16                 MS. KENT: And Staten Island, three

         17  boroughs.  New York Public Libraries covers the

         18  three boroughs.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, no, but

         20  when we have them broken down into the Brooklyn

         21  Library, the New York Library, the Queens Public

         22  Library, they all have -- so, Manhattan is with the

         23  Bronx?

         24                 MS. KENT: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct?  In
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          2  terms of allocation?

          3                 MS. KENT: I have not seen that

          4  report, but if it just says the New York Public

          5  Library, it would be the three boroughs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I do not

          7  want to put you -- if you have not seen this, there

          8  is no point in me trying to -- but, if you can, I

          9  would want to know, again, the question I asked

         10  Brooklyn, but I did not know it was Brooklyn.  That

         11  is why I was talking so highly about Council Member

         12  Gentile, but you are from Manhattan.

         13                 So, I want to know, you know, when it

         14  comes to allocation, for example, DYCD sets x amount

         15  of money, $37 million dollars plus for Manhattan,

         16  and in this case we are assuming also the Bronx, I

         17  want to know how much of that is purely the borough

         18  of Manhattan?  And looking also at what DYCD uses in

         19  terms of population, they are good with maps, in

         20  terms of mapping out population of youth, I would

         21  like to know how these monies are allocated in the

         22  borough of Manhattan based on the population of

         23  youth and the programs?  The same, I will ask, for

         24  CASA money.  In the borough of Manhattan, how is it

         25  determined which branches, in which community, based
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          2  on youth population, are these dollars going to?

          3  And if you do not have the answer now, you can just

          4  forward me that.  I do not want to ask you a

          5  question if you have not even seen this report.

          6                 But in terms of CASA money, I would

          7  like to know, based on population, youth population,

          8  which branches got these monies, and how monies were

          9  designated?

         10                 MS. Kent: Well, when we allocated the

         11  CASA money in general, we made sure that there were

         12  branches in every one, every Council district, that

         13  received CASA money.  And we also looked at areas of

         14  greatest need, in terms of children.  We also tried

         15  to look at, if we were doing a lot of programming in

         16  a branch through the Wallace grant, and we did not

         17  have so much money in another branch, we would look

         18  at that.  But one of our, I think, the hallmarks of

         19  the New York Public Library, is that we want to

         20  achieve equity and access to library service, in

         21  every one of our branches.  And there should be

         22  branches, and have branches, that equity is

         23  critically important to us.  So, we look at the

         24  demographics, we look at the population of kids and

         25  when we look at where we had perhaps another grant
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          2  or some extra money someplace else, and then we

          3  distributed the money that way.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, equity

          5  is important. But for me, I like to look at

          6  population, based on population. Because my job here

          7  is that, even though we have a system where we are

          8  trying to be equitable in terms of the distribution

          9  of funding, we also have to realize that there are

         10  some communities with higher needs and higher

         11  population.  So therefore, I would like to know in

         12  the library system, based on population and

         13  services, I would like to take a look at that.  And

         14  if I feel or believe that I need to do something in

         15  addition to what we are doing collaboratively as a

         16  Council, that needs to be addressed.

         17                 Because the same would be in terms

         18  of, I heard you mention the fact that there are many

         19  libraries in bad condition. But the condition that

         20  my library is in right now, and the population and

         21  the youth of that library, really needs a lot of

         22  help.

         23                 MS. KENT: Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, based on

         25  that, that is the reasoning why I want to see based
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          2  on population and distribution of funding,

          3  especially Council funding and City funding, to see

          4  what else I can be helpful with.

          5                 And I also want to have the

          6  conversation about the Library to see in terms of

          7  capital.  How can we definitely deal with it finally

          8  before --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, the New

         10  York Public Library system is coming in for a

         11  meeting with us, and you are more than welcome to be

         12  at that meeting.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I want my

         14  own meeting.

         15                 MS. KENT: We would be happy to

         16  schedule a meeting with you, Councilman.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: We can do it

         18  together.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, no listen.

         20  I just want to make a statement.  We have a school

         21  here from Councilman Vinnie Gentile's district.  He

         22  would like to welcome them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Great.  Thank

         24  you, Mr. Chairman, and it is good to see that on a

         25  day that we are speaking about the youth programs,
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          2  that New York City's three public library systems,

          3  that we have a group from a public school, PS247, I

          4  believe, right?  Am I correct about that?  PS247 in

          5  the neighborhood of Bensonhurst, the beautiful

          6  borough of Brooklyn. And certainly it is a great

          7  school and glad you are here today.

          8                 We have already had the testimony

          9  from the Brooklyn Public Library, but we have New

         10  York Public Library now, and we will have the Queens

         11  Public Library in just a few minutes.  So, if you

         12  can stay around, you get to hear some of the things

         13  that are happening in our City, in our three great

         14  public library systems. You know we have the New

         15  York Public Library system, the Brooklyn Public

         16  Library system and the Queens Public Library system.

         17    So, those three systems, and that is what we are

         18  having our hearing on today.  Thank you for being

         19  here, and if I get a minute, I will come back and we

         20  will take a picture together.  That would be great,

         21  thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And right now,

         23  testifying is the New York Public Library system.

         24  The New York Public Library system covers the

         25  borough of Manhattan, the Bronx and Staten Island.
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          2  Brooklyn is covered by the Brooklyn Public Library

          3  system and Queens is covered by the Queens Public

          4  Library systems.  So, you have three systems that

          5  cover all the libraries in New York City.  Just so

          6  you learned something today.  Okay?

          7                 Mr. Martinez, you want to continue

          8  questioning?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, thank

         10  you, Mr. Chair. I appreciate it.  I will follow up

         11  on some of the questions and maybe we can set up --

         12  I will set it up with your office, we can have the

         13  joint meeting.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.  At

         15  this time, I would like to recognize from the

         16  borough of Manhattan, Inez Dickens.  Welcome.  Dan

         17  Garodnick.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. Ms. Kent, welcome.  I hope you feel

         20  better.

         21                 MS. KENT: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Just a few

         23  questions from me.  The first is just to clarify a

         24  couple of things that you said in your testimony.

         25  You said that last year, the Library offered nearly
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          2  13,000 children's programs in the branches.  How

          3  exactly are you defining programs, when you say

          4  13,000?  Because that seemed like a high number.

          5                 MS. KENT: It is a lot.  It is a lot.

          6  It is one of our most important services.  It is

          7  weekly story hours, toddler times, programming

          8  during the summer for summer reading club.  We could

          9  have eight or ten programs a week in a branch

         10  library, and we have 85 branch libraries.  So, the

         11  programs can range from a magic show to a science

         12  experiment to a book talk, and it is for children,

         13  and for teens.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, so

         15  each one of those, you are defining as a program,

         16  not like Literacy Enrichment After School Program,

         17  is a program, too, but you are not defining that as

         18  part of your 13,000.  These are all subsets of the

         19  various things that you do.

         20                 MS. KENT: Yes, those are all distinct

         21  parts that take place in one specific time period.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: You

         23  mentioned it briefly, I wanted to know if you could

         24  expand a little bit on the sort of outreach that you

         25  do to let schools and other community organizations
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          2  know about the programs that you have going on,

          3  because obviously, there are many, and there are

          4  great opportunities there.

          5                 MS. KENT: Yes we do, and I want to

          6  commend Chairman Recchia for his idea about letting

          7  elected officials know. Actually, the New York

          8  Public Library on April 1st, or just about, sent a

          9  letter to each elected official with flyers and

         10  information about the programs going on over the

         11  next few months.  And I hope that you please note,

         12  that on each of those flyers that as a CASA program

         13  it says, provided by the City Council.  So, that was

         14  a really good idea and actually it was Councilwoman

         15  Brewer's idea in a meeting that I had with her, and

         16  we pursued it and we will continue to pursue that.

         17                 We work with the schools, we send

         18  notices to parent/teacher organizations to the

         19  schools through the schools and the principals.

         20  When we launched the homework help site, we asked

         21  Chancellor Klein to send an email to the principals

         22  to let them know about it, which he did, and we were

         23  grateful for.

         24                 We work with community groups with

         25  youth service organizations, with community
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          2  newspapers and press releases with the press in

          3  general, with the media, when we can for big

          4  launches of big programs.  And we do everything we

          5  can to get the word out about our programs.  Do we

          6  do enough?  Probably not.  And one of the things I

          7  think all of the three libraries have in common, is

          8  we do not have advertising and marketing budgets.

          9  So we have to do things that are done free of

         10  charge, pretty much.  And I have met with Deputy

         11  Chancellors in the school districts, to talk about

         12  how we can effectively work with the schools in

         13  promoting our program.             One of the things

         14  I was told was, do not send things home with the

         15  backpacks.  It is called Backpack Glut, something I

         16  did not know about and some of the kids never get

         17  them home and it is a waste.  So, we are looking at

         18  trying to communicate with teachers and parents in

         19  other ways.  As I said, we have staff that attend

         20  parent teacher organizations that staff parent Open

         21  School Nights, and we think that working with the

         22  parent coordinators in the school, is a way to do

         23  it.  Multiple ways, and we are always open to new

         24  ideas on how to get the word out about programs.  Of

         25  course, flyers in libraries, posters in neighborhood
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          2  stores, all the variety of things that you can do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

          4  for that.  And obviously, we will partner with you

          5  in trying to help you promote these great things

          6  that you do.  Is it fair to say that of the 257,000

          7  children that attended these various programs, it

          8  seems like, to me, as a newcomer to this, that a lot

          9  of them serve the younger kids.  Is that an accurate

         10  assessment?  Because you even say here, attended by

         11  257,000 children and their care givers.

         12                 MS. KENT: Some of them were care

         13  givers, right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         15                 MS. KENT: You know, traditionally,

         16  the libraries have been used by younger kids.  And

         17  over the years, as kids got older and reached middle

         18  school, there was less likelihood that they would go

         19  to libraries.  But that has changed radically over

         20  the past several years.  We have seen -- we have put

         21  a lot of attention to what we call Young Adult

         22  Services, serving kids ages 12 to 18, concentrating

         23  on working with middle schools and with high

         24  Schools, having computers in the libraries has made

         25  the difference.  Having kids be able to come in and

                                                            109

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  use computers, not only for their school work, but

          3  for recreational activities.  We have computer chess

          4  clubs, for example, where kids play chess against

          5  others on the computers.  Providing computer

          6  instruction, we have had a program for several years

          7  called Click On at the Library, and that provides

          8  classes to young people, as well as adults, on how

          9  to use the computers, anything from how to use a

         10  mouse, to how to create your own website.  And they

         11  have been tremendously, tremendously popular.

         12                 Also, the time and attention we have

         13  put in with our Young Adult Librarians going out and

         14  doing things of interest to young people, the Teen

         15  Advisory Boards that are helping our staff put

         16  together programs, building collections and doing

         17  outreach to their peers, has turned around the

         18  number of middle school and high school kids, using

         19  the library.  Is it as large a number as younger

         20  kids?  No, but we continually see a growth, it is

         21  very heartening to see, of teenagers in the library.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, one

         23  of the ways to maybe do that, something that sitting

         24  here listening and talking about this with my staff

         25  and thinking about this hearing today, was the
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          2  Brooklyn systems program on the Teen Ambassadors,

          3  was one which is really very interesting.  And it

          4  serves a lot of those purposes. One, bringing kids

          5  from under served neighborhoods, in some cases, into

          6  the library serving as ambassadors to bring others.

          7  Is that a program that you have explored in the New

          8  York system?

          9                 MS. KENT: No, we have not done that

         10  because we have done the Computer Page, which was

         11  the other employment program that we have done, but

         12  we are happy to look into it.  We all learn and

         13  share from one another on a regular basis.  And what

         14  works in one place, we are always happy to try in

         15  another.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, you do

         17  sort of compare notes as you go here.

         18                 MS. KENT: Absolutely, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Because

         20  that is one which jumps out as particularly

         21  interesting and working with NYCHA to offer these

         22  opportunities, and I am recognizing of course, that

         23  you do that with the Computer Pages program.  But

         24  this is something that is a very, very interesting

         25  program.  The one that I think we should talk about
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          2  further.

          3                 I was going to ask you about your

          4  coordination with other not- for- profit

          5  organizations, but hearing what you said about the

          6  cultural and other things, I will just reiterate

          7  what my Chairman said, it is a beautiful thing.  And

          8  we will ask you, just as a final question here, this

          9  a broader sort of principal question.  When taking a

         10  step back and thinking about these youth programs

         11  and what Libraries roles are youth programs, can you

         12  state a principal as to what really our goal should

         13  be here?  Is it for promoting literacy?  Is it for

         14  promoting libraries?  Is it for -- What ultimately

         15  would you say should be the principal which drives

         16  all the things we do here, maybe they are all

         17  interconnected, I do not know.  It would not

         18  surprise me if that were the case.  But what do you

         19  think should be the driving principal here?

         20                 MS. KENT: I would say to promote the

         21  love of learning and reading.  And that the library

         22  is an educational institution and a partner with the

         23  other educational and cultural institutions in this

         24  City, that can only do a job by working together to

         25  promote that love of learning and reading.  As
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          2  Brooklyn does, we have a new early childhood

          3  initiative working with parents and care givers of

          4  very young children, to promote that love of

          5  learning and reading.  Because kids who have those

          6  pre- literacy skills, go to school much more

          7  prepared to learn.  And I think we do that with the

          8  youngest kids and with the oldest teenagers.  And

          9  that is a very solid principal and it encompasses, I

         10  think, everything that the Public Library does.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, thank

         12  you for that, Ms. Kent.  Thank you for everything

         13  that you and the New York Public Library do, and we

         14  obviously, in the City Council, we will be

         15  supporting you and trying to help in this whole

         16  process.  And thank you for being here today.

         17                 MS. KENT: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Inez Dickens

         19  from Manhattan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         21  much, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, Ms. Kent, for your

         22  testimony.  I want to thank you also for working so

         23  diligently and quickly on the McComb's Library in my

         24  district.  Because that has been very, very

         25  important, and it has been long overdue.  Because it
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          2  has been housed in an efficiency apartment in a

          3  housing development for 50 years.  And the prospect

          4  of us getting an actual library is phenomenal, and

          5  the community is grateful.  We will be more

          6  grateful, once we see it in completion.

          7                 But I have a question about the

          8  outreach.  Because of the fact that children

          9  frequently do not bring flyers home, have you

         10  considered outreach for instance to battered women

         11  shelters? Where you cannot go into, but you

         12  certainly can work with the agencies that oversee,

         13  to see that the flyers get into the shelters

         14  themselves.  As well as senior centers, because

         15  grandparents now are frequently the prime care

         16  givers for children, and younger and younger

         17  children.  And also tenant organizations, as well as

         18  churches.

         19                 MS. KENT: Yes, actually we work with

         20  battered women's shelters, homeless shelters, a

         21  variety of organizations to promote all of the

         22  library services.  Tenant organizations are an

         23  excellent idea, and thank you for suggesting that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes, because

         25  many tenant organizations, some of the flyers that I
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          2  have been able to get, they were not even aware of.

          3  And I duplicate them so that they can get it.  But

          4  some of the larger developments, if you worked with

          5  them, I think that would help to disseminate the

          6  information so that parents would know what is going

          7  on in their local libraries.

          8                 MS. KENT: Yes, thank you.  We will do

          9  that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Melissa Mark

         13  Viverito.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Yes,

         15  thank you, Mr. Chair.  Ms. Kent, I have a question.

         16  I want to follow up with regards to the, at least

         17  the concept of the Teen Ambassadors Program.

         18  Representing a district that has the largest number

         19  of public housing developments, I represent East

         20  Harlem, part of the South Bronx and part of the West

         21  Side.  Clearly, I feel that over time, public

         22  housing developments, the young people in those

         23  developments, are overlooked in many different ways.

         24    And I think that the Teen Ambassador Program is a

         25  really novel concept to really engage young people
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          2  in the developments to learn of the programs that

          3  exist, and how they can benefit from them.  So, I

          4  really would like to explore something along those

          5  lines, if maybe you have anything where you directly

          6  maybe do any sort of outreach specifically to the

          7  developments, in terms of the East 105th Street

          8  Branch which is in my district.  If there is not

          9  anything specifically targeting those young people,

         10  I think we should definitely look at something that

         11  we could do as a pilot.

         12                 MS. KENT: We will be happy to look at

         13  that and I will be happy to work with the Brooklyn

         14  Public Library and learn from their experience in

         15  this.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Okay.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Miguel Martinez,

         19  you have a follow up question?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes, I just

         21  want to follow up.  On the issue of technology --

         22                 MS. KENT: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: -- Is there

         24  a way, or do you already have a list of libraries

         25  that you look in to enhance or the needs, technology

                                                            116

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  needs --

          3                 MS. KENT: Yes, we already do have a

          4  list.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: From wiring

          6  to computer software?

          7                 MS. KENT: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Can I get

          9  that from my district?

         10                 MS. KENT: Certainly.  We will be

         11  happy to.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Great.

         13  Before we start our old budget process?

         14                 MS. KENT: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Could we have

         17  that for all the -- could you send it to all the

         18  Council members in the New York Public Library

         19  system, exactly the computers in each of their

         20  Council districts and library and what, you know?

         21  You do not have to give it to us today, if you would

         22  just follow it up.

         23                 MS. KENT: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because we could

         25  be here for hours.  Okay?  And I just want to follow
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          2  up something too, I think Council Member Dickens

          3  what she said, I am going to request it from you.

          4  If you could send me and all the Council members in

          5  the New York Public Library system, exactly what

          6  programs you have for the youth and for the seniors,

          7  and what summer programs you are going to have?  So

          8  we can send it -- we can put it in our newsletters,

          9  so the Council members could put it in the

         10  newsletters exactly what is happening this summer

         11  and then follow it up with what is happening next

         12  Fall and during the school year, so we can send it

         13  out and put in --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: We only have

         15  a couple of days for that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, I know.

         17  Unfortunately we just --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: The last one

         19  is due in --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know, but we

         21  are going to come out with it in --

         22                 MS. KENT: Well, this is for children

         23  in April.  And this is for teens and adults in

         24  April.  So, we would be happy to send you all of

         25  this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, you put out

          3  a book a month?

          4                 MS. KENT: A book, this is, we are the

          5  book of the month club or two books of the month

          6  club.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That is too

          8  much, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know, but if

         10  we could find out what is going on in your district,

         11  you could put that in your district.

         12                 MS. KENT: We will be happy to send

         13  this to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: If you leave me

         15  a copy of that, it is very similar, I would like to

         16  look at it.

         17                 MS. KENT: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What? Yes, okay.

         19    Council Member Melissa Mark Viverito, she has a

         20  follow up question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:

         22  Actually just as we are here throwing ideas around,

         23  does the New York Public Library, do you guys serve

         24  as a site for SYEP?  Because I know this is the way

         25  we can start it off.
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          2                 MS. KENT: Yes, we do.  No, we do

          3  Summer Youth Employment and it is a very valuable

          4  program for the library.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Right.

          6  So, maybe we can talk, at least in regards to my

          7  district, of maybe engaging some of those young

          8  people to serve as ambassadors to the public housing

          9  development in the area.

         10                 MS. KENT: That is a great idea.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO: Okay.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Does anyone else

         14  have any questions?  If not, I want to thank the New

         15  York Public Library System for coming and testifying

         16  here today.

         17                 And make sure you see Jake Herring to

         18  set up the appointment.

         19                 Next, the Queens Public Library

         20  System.

         21                 Before you start, we have just been

         22  joined by our Minority Leader of the City Council,

         23  Jimmy Oddo, from Staten Island.

         24                 Go ahead.

         25                 MR. GALANTE: Okay.  Good morning.  I
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          2  am Tom Galante, Director of the Queens Library.  I

          3  want to begin by thanking each of the members of the

          4  Committees here today for your past support of

          5  Libraries.  And for the opportunity to speak with

          6  you this morning about the impact of youth programs

          7  at the Queens Library.

          8                 I would like to commend Chairmen

          9  Recchia, Gentile, Fidler for convening this hearing

         10  so we can highlight the great youth programs and

         11  services, being offered at our libraries.

         12                 Of course, I would be remiss if I did

         13  not thank Chairman Recchia and the entire Council

         14  for providing funding for after school activities to

         15  the Cultural After School Adventure, CASA Program.

         16                 Queens Library is committed to

         17  providing youth with innovative and engaging

         18  programs that speak to academic excellence, and

         19  positive social interaction.  As part of our ongoing

         20  efforts to serve children and young adults, we

         21  present a wide variety of programs, beginning with

         22  toddlers, and continuing through the teenage years.

         23  Ranging from Mother Goose, Lap Sit Programs, Toddler

         24  Time and the Toddler Learning Center Through Picture

         25  Book, Summer Reading Club and after school programs,
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          2  our programs change the lives of young people for

          3  the better.

          4                 Our Toddler Learning Centers are

          5  presented several times a year throughout the Queens

          6  Library.  The programs are comprised of a five

          7  session workshop, that teaches parents to learn and

          8  play, in such a way to enhance a toddler's

          9  educational and physical development.

         10                 The Summer Reading Club features

         11  special themes and programs to encourage children

         12  and teens to use the library and read for pleasure,

         13  as well as for information.  The goal is for kids

         14  and teens to read for fun, and remain life long

         15  readers.  We recognize that reading is the

         16  foundation of learning, as well as the critical

         17  impact it has on a child's future achievement.

         18                 The library is part of the mosaic of

         19  out of school time offerings in any given community.

         20    Our customers already see us in this role.

         21  Parents want homework help services for their

         22  children.  Family with fewer resources are looking

         23  for greater homework help.  Everyday our libraries

         24  are filled with young people, children and teens who

         25  know that they can find help with their homework,
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          2  prints and on line resources, fun activities in a

          3  safe place with caring and capable adults.

          4                 The Queens Library realizes that

          5  parents and schools have a big job to do in

          6  educating their children.  That is why we are

          7  committed to being an active community partner in

          8  the education of our youth.  One of our key

          9  strategic initiatives is to improve the services

         10  provided to children in out- of- school times.

         11  Through a two year, $2 million dollar grant we

         12  secured from the Wallace Foundation in 2004, we were

         13  able to implement a new model for out of school time

         14  services.  BOOST, or Best out of School Time

         15  Services include after school homework help,

         16  enrichment activities, collection development and

         17  resource management.  Many children come to the

         18  library straight from school, and thanks to BOOST

         19  services, leave with their homework completed.  The

         20  library has a full calendar of exciting enrichment

         21  activities for all ages, and we concentrate these

         22  events in the out of school hours to boost the

         23  learning experience.  Poetry workshops, author

         24  talks, art programs, music programs and more, offer

         25  opportunities for young people to express their
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          2  creativity, and actively participate in favorite

          3  hobbies, or acquire new ones.

          4                 BOOST is not a program, but is a core

          5  service that we must continue to provide to children

          6  and teens in every library. Those age 13 to 17,

          7  visit our libraries more than any other age group.

          8  Eighty percent visit Queens Library on a regular

          9  basis. The Wallace Foundation Grant is ending and we

         10  need your help to keep these services for kids.

         11  Queens Library requires new City funding in the

         12  amount of $750 thousand annually, to keep and base

         13  line this needed service beyond the end of the

         14  current Fiscal Year.

         15                 Through the hard work of Chairman

         16  Recchia and the City Council, Queens Library

         17  received $300 thousand this year through the CASA

         18  Program.  Three major components of our Youth

         19  Services Program have directly benefited from CASA

         20  funding.

         21                 1. BOOST, this funding provides

         22  additional materials and programming in 26 community

         23  libraries to expand BOOST. Activity assistance,

         24  provide homework assistance, and mentoring to youth

         25  age six to fourteen.  As part of our effort to
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          2  engage youth, we provide programming that highlights

          3  such activates such as reading, music, test taking

          4  skills, and character building.

          5                 2. At Risk Youth Program, as part of

          6  the library's commitment to funding successful

          7  programs, we are continuing the work initiated under

          8  a grant issued by the New York State Division of

          9  Criminal Justice.  The grants have ended, but the

         10  need to provide programming and resources to youth

         11  in Rosedale and Laurelton, has not.  CASA funds have

         12  allowed us to continue to provide homework

         13  assistance, mentoring through a youth counselor, and

         14  social work services to youth in both locations  We

         15  reach an average of 300 youth per day in both

         16  locations through these programs.

         17                 3. Enhancing After School Programming

         18  for Young Adults system- wide, CASA funds provide

         19  workshops in such areas as financial aid

         20  preparation, college application preparation, youth

         21  book clubs, and art programs.  These programs have

         22  been a key to providing safe havens in all 63

         23  locations in the critical 3 p.m. to 6 p.m. after

         24  school hours at all branches, especially for youth

         25  15 and older.
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          2                 The Queens Library is committed to

          3  serving the youth population of the borough.  Our

          4  customers at all 62 community libraries and the

          5  Central Library, between the ages of one to

          6  nineteen, are provided with specific programs,

          7  services and materials to fulfill their educational,

          8  cultural, recreational and informational needs.  All

          9  of our community libraries and the Central Library's

         10  young adult room, have material for teenagers. These

         11  include fiction and non- fiction books for

         12  completing school assignments, and for pleasure

         13  reading, computer databases and internet resources,

         14  as well as CD's, videos, DVD's and CD ROM's. To make

         15  certain that teens feel welcome and continue to come

         16  to the library, we have created separate teen spaces

         17  which give the comfort of home, a space separated

         18  from the younger children and adults, which

         19  encourage greater interaction.  We are also looking

         20  to include improvements to our teen spaces with the

         21  purchase of furniture, and renovations which include

         22  the participation of youth, who now feel like

         23  stakeholders in their neighborhood library.

         24                 The programs and services available

         25  to Queens Library for youth, are critical to success
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          2  and the well being of our kids, and of the future of

          3  our City.  However, when a library is closed, an

          4  opportunity is lost to change the life of a child.

          5                 Unfortunately, with all the good work

          6  we do, when our doors are open for youth, our doors

          7  are closed to youth more now than during any other

          8  economic expansion in memory.  At present, 41

          9  libraries in Queens are closed all weekend long.

         10  Just a few years ago, every library in Queens was

         11  open Monday through Saturday and 14 libraries were

         12  open Monday through Sunday.  As you know, $7.9

         13  million dollars must be restored to our budget, so

         14  that all of our doors can be open for all kids on

         15  weekends.

         16                 Lastly, the $11 million dollar cut

         17  proposed for the FY'07 in the City's January

         18  Financial Plan, must be restored so we are not

         19  forced to close our doors to more kids on weekends,

         20  and also during the week after school.

         21                 I know that each of you shares our

         22  vision to have all libraries open six and seven days

         23  a week for kids, coupled with quality service, such

         24  as the programs afforded through CASA.

         25                 I thank you for your vision and your
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          2  recognition of the crucial role that Libraries play

          3  in our communities.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          5  much for your testimony.  It is very interesting to

          6  see what each system is doing with the CASA funding.

          7    And I think you have come up with some very

          8  creative ideas, especially that college application.

          9    How does that work?  Can you just elaborate on

         10  that?  And how many children are you serving?  And

         11  how --

         12                 MR. GALANTE: Sure.  We have a

         13  Programs and Services Department which are

         14  specialists in basically, in delivering quality

         15  programs that are educational and these are also,

         16  these are staffed by librarians.  What they do is,

         17  we will have a program, it will be during an active

         18  time for kids, for that age group, we will put a

         19  promotion out regarding it, to get the word out.

         20  And basically, we have people that are specialists

         21  in college preparation courses come in, sit down for

         22  an hour to an hour and a half, and do a session with

         23  the kids that attend.

         24                 We offer, it was interesting, the

         25  question earlier, we offer, in Queens, we have about
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          2  24,000 "programs" a year.  Now that you would view

          3  with a small p.  Because as I mentioned, like say

          4  the college preparation class would be a small

          5  program.  Then we have what you would view as a

          6  program with a capital P, which would be CASA, which

          7  is the overlying component.

          8                 Then we have what we view as a

          9  service.  And what we have done with our after

         10  school programs, our out of school time service is,

         11  we have really converted it from a program capital

         12  P, to a service.  And that, to answer one of the

         13  questions earlier, what will we do without the

         14  Wallace funding?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         16                 MR. GALANTE: The choices are

         17  extremely difficult because we do not view our after

         18  school services as a program anymore in Queens, it

         19  is a core service.  So the choices I have, well,

         20  first hopefully funding will come through, through

         21  the City or some other source, if possible.  But the

         22  choices I have from there, really are, do I

         23  eliminate the service?  Or do I eliminate, close

         24  five libraries on Saturday so we have 46 libraries

         25  closed all weekend long, instead of 41, and free up
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          2  and use that funding to be able to deliver the

          3  program after school Monday through Friday. And if

          4  push came to shove, I think it is going to be the

          5  libraries will close hours on weekends in five

          6  locations, so 63 have a program for kids after

          7  school.  But no matter which way we go, we know that

          8  it will not be a pleasant situation for anyone.  So,

          9  that is the difficult situation it kind of puts us

         10  in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Have you made

         12  your position known to the Administration about the

         13  Wallace Grant?

         14                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, we have a meeting

         15  set up in a few weeks with the Administration.  The

         16  Mayor was aware of this.  What originally -- an

         17  emergency campaign was kicked off about three to

         18  four years ago after 9- 11, four libraries, that New

         19  York Public more or less kicked off and organized

         20  with the Mayor and Queens and Brooklyn participated.

         21    And the Wallace Foundation came through in a time

         22  when it was, it was tough times.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, tough

         24  times, we all agree to that.

         25                 MR. GALANTE: The idea was, is that
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          2  Wallace had really a few different goals that they

          3  had in play.  One was, what they like to do is, they

          4  like to fund an initiative, have someone learn,

          5  develop something special, evaluate it, and then

          6  roll it out throughout the country, roll out that

          7  information.  So what they plan on doing through the

          8  work, that they have done in New York, is to use

          9  that as models to emulate in other cities for

         10  Libraries. And that is why Wallace is not there to

         11  fund this ongoing, because they do not see that as a

         12  Wallace role to fund a program like this on an

         13  ongoing basis.

         14                 In Queens, our first year of the

         15  program, first year of funding, was an evaluation

         16  period.  We had about 36 libraries that used to

         17  offer what we called the Latchkey Program.

         18  Basically, after looking at all that, we had, it was

         19  completely decentralized, we saw ways we could

         20  improve in through centralizing it, taking the best

         21  practices that we saw in some libraries, and

         22  emulating that in others.

         23                 So, the Wallace Funding really

         24  allowed us to do an effective evaluation.  We also

         25  worked with TASK on that.  Then in year two, we did
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          2  the roll out and we are now in year three where we

          3  are basically seeing the benefits of the program and

          4  then we will be evaluating it at the end.  And it is

          5  an important goal to continue it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, I think

          7  this is something Councilman Gentile and myself and

          8  the rest of the Council members are going to look

          9  into, especially get word to the Administration that

         10  something has to be done.  And that is why I am

         11  making it a big issue and that is why I keep on

         12  making my statement because we have to hit home hard

         13  about this.

         14                 Let us just talk about your wireless

         15  computer system. You have wireless in your library

         16  systems?

         17                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, we have wireless in

         18  about 20 of our libraries right now.  The rest are

         19  all having it installed as we do interior

         20  renovations over the next year, year and a half.

         21  What we are also doing, we have piloted and we are

         22  going to be rolling that out, we have got three

         23  libraries that will add this service by the end of

         24  June, and then we will have it in every library.

         25  Our goal is to have it in every library in the next
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          2  year and a half to two years.  And that is to have a

          3  laptop loan program.  It is not real expensive.  It

          4  is about 35,000 to 50,000 for a given library to

          5  install it.  And the wireless component is

          6  relatively inexpensive, $15 hundred dollars to add

          7  that to our network.  But what this allows us to do,

          8  a lot of our community's people do not have a

          9  computer.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         11                 MR. GALANTE: And what they can do is,

         12  come into the library.  Basically we hold

         13  identification while they take the computer, the

         14  notebook, and go use it in the library for two hours

         15  on our wireless network.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And as far as

         17  security, you know, making sure someone does not

         18  walk out with it.

         19                 MR. GALANTE: We have been okay so

         20  far.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You have been

         22  okay so far?

         23                 MR. GALANTE: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And let us say

         25  if the Council was able to initiate a new
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          2  initiative, do you see a demand for this?  Do you

          3  feel that this is something that the libraries could

          4  use?  And if we were able to get funding for a one

          5  year initiative, do you see it beneficial to the

          6  libraries and the other people, too?

          7                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, very much so.  And

          8  we could implement it in relatively short order, by

          9  the end of the year, we could implement it

         10  everywhere for sure.  We have and have asked each of

         11  the Queens Council members a dollar amount for these

         12  notebooks in each library, and it does seem to be a

         13  promising item that we would hope to see funded.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         15  Councilman Gentile.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Mr. Galante, I am curious now, in

         19  your testimony, you said with 80 percent of those

         20  age 13 to 17 visit the libraries on a regular basis.

         21    What does that translate into numbers, do you know

         22  what that --

         23                 MR. GALANTE: Numbers wise, where the

         24  80 percent comes from, I will start with that, is we

         25  do, do market research. We contracted with OCR Macro
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          2  to, they did a telephone poll and one of the things

          3  that came out of that was breakouts of our usage

          4  based on demographic groups.  And what was very

          5  interesting out of this, it tells you a lot, you put

          6  a number to it, with that 80 percent figure.  And

          7  then the second highest group was those aged 35 to

          8  55 which was about 65 percent.  So, it is

          9  interesting as to how teens in that 13 to 17 year

         10  bracket are the heaviest users.

         11                 To put numbers to it, we have about

         12  45,000 people a day who visit us.  Every time you

         13  walk in the library and walk back out, we have a

         14  gate counter that clicks and keeps statistics for

         15  us.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: For all 63

         17  libraries?

         18                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, for all 63

         19  libraries.  So, in Queens, about 45,000 people a

         20  day.  Now on each of those days, they borrow about

         21  71,000 items, another statistic that we track.  We

         22  know that about 25 to 30 percent of our visitors are

         23  kids and teens, at minimum.  So, if you were to take

         24  that number, you would say it is about 15,000 a day

         25  that visit us and most of that and on a school day,
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          2  that is all happening between the hours of three and

          3  6 p.m. typically.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And so that is

          5  how you come up with that 80 percent figure?

          6                 MS. GALANTE: Yes.  Well the 80

          7  percent is doing a statistical poll which we know to

          8  be accurate, and then on the actual counts, it is

          9  about 15,000 which is a fair number, it is about a

         10  third of the people who visit us of the 45,000 a

         11  day.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So, those

         13  numbers are big, very big.

         14                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, they are good

         15  numbers, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Yes.  Now how

         17  did -- you are estimating that $750 thousand dollars

         18  would be sufficient to replace the Wallace

         19  Foundation grant?

         20                 MR. GALANTE: Yes.  That amount is

         21  determined by specifically taking what we are

         22  funding this year that Wallace is paying for.  A

         23  large amount of that are staff, which are there to

         24  help kids when they come in after school.  Also,

         25  that covers programs, it covers a number of
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          2  different components.  So, it is a firm number in

          3  that it is what we are doing right now that when the

          4  Wallace Funding expires, we will not have to be able

          5  to continue it.

          6                 There are a couple other things I

          7  will point out. That if we were to really do it

          8  right, it would be $750 thousand dollars to replace

          9  Wallace.  For Queens, it would also be about $350

         10  thousand dollars, so we had on line homework help,

         11  through tutor.com or some other service.  And then

         12  also, at least $300 thousand dollars that would call

         13  it the CASA Program expansion that you have allowed

         14  us to do this year through that funding.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And that expands

         16  the BOOST program?

         17                 MR. GALANTE: It helped BOOST out and

         18  what we did was we integrated it in with BOOST, so

         19  that as you came into the library, there were all

         20  these additional programs that were being able to be

         21  offered with the CASA funding.  So, it really was a

         22  great way to enhance something that we had already

         23  had in place, really.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Now, what

         25  efforts, other than hopefully getting some City
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          2  funding, have been made to try and replace this

          3  money?  Do you have grant writers or somebody doing

          4  grant research?

          5                 MR. GALANTE: We have a full time, we

          6  have staff that work full time on grants.  What is

          7  difficult is at a given point in time, you are

          8  always working feverishly to get all that you could

          9  this year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Right.

         11                 MR. GALANTE: So, to then say to try

         12  and replace a large donor, like Wallace all in one

         13  year, is extremely difficult. I will give you an

         14  example, or you can do it to maybe fund say the OST

         15  component, but then you lose it somewhere else.  We

         16  have in Queens, it is similar to what I heard New

         17  York had a different name for it, I think.  But we

         18  have what we call our Teen Net Mentors in Queens.

         19  Basically, these are teens that after school, come

         20  to the library, that are paid about $8.00 an hour,

         21  to help people use our computers and to search the

         22  internet.  That program is entirely privately

         23  funded.  It is about a half a million dollars a

         24  year. So, that takes a lot of work just to keep that

         25  funded.  And it is funded through some great
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          2  organizations like CitiCorp, a number of banks we

          3  have been able to work towards it.  But at least for

          4  us, we are relatively limited in the corporations we

          5  can get to and they are already coming through in a

          6  big way.  So, you take that $750 thousand dollars

          7  and it is going to be extremely difficult to find

          8  the funding.  We are working on it.  But we are also

          9  trying to do it without it hurting another program,

         10  as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Right.  Now, in

         12  looking at these numerous programs you have and the

         13  other boroughs have, I am just curious, how do you

         14  evaluate the individual service or program?  Do you

         15  do it on the basis of the number of people who

         16  register for a program or the attendance of a

         17  program?  How do you do an evaluation or an analysis

         18  of how successful a particular program is?

         19                 MR. GALANTE: It depends on the

         20  program or the service.  For services, which is what

         21  BOOST would be categorized, that is typically done

         22  through really, market research, because you do not

         23  have a -- well we switched over from having a

         24  Latchkey Program with 40 kids in a room, to saying

         25  every kid who walks in, we want to provide enhanced
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          2  services after school.  So, the only way to get to

          3  that information is to really market research and

          4  doing statistical sampling.  And we are doing that

          5  about twice a year now to be able to benchmark where

          6  we are at now, and then look towards improving that

          7  as we go.

          8                 When it comes to a specific program,

          9  a small p, large p, there we collect statistics, we

         10  also bring in outside people, such as TASK, which is

         11  an example for the after school corporation who came

         12  in to work with us on the evaluation for our after

         13  school program.  So, that is typically how we will

         14  do it. But in a lot of cases, it will be bringing a

         15  specialist who can help support that.  Plus it

         16  provides an independent evaluation which is

         17  important to me to make sure what we are doing is a

         18  good job.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So in the

         20  programs, particularly the small p's, do you

         21  actually have registration?

         22                 MR. GALANTE: Small p's what we do is,

         23  when you come in the door we have counts.  So, that

         24  is how I can tell you 450,000 people attended our

         25  programs, of 24,000, 300 programs last year. And I
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          2  can also break it out by juvenile, young adult and

          3  adult.  So those are ongoing statistics, that I am

          4  sure the other systems keep.  Statistics are more or

          5  less nationwide that tend to be kept.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And do you look

          7  at any attendance in terms of programs over time?

          8                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, what we do with

          9  those, each of those small p's, a form is completed

         10  in the local library when the program ends.  So, let

         11  us say it is a Chinese Dance event, let us say.  I

         12  am at the end of that event, the person who put it

         13  together, the librarian, will fill out a form, they

         14  will indicate how many people attended, the time of

         15  it.  They also give it an evaluation on the person

         16  who presented it to see how well it went with

         17  people, so we know we should  invite them back.  We

         18  share that information with our other libraries, so

         19  that they can learn from each other as to the good

         20  presenters.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE:  How about

         22  ongoing programs, though, like workshops and

         23  seminars, that you run over a period of time?  Do

         24  you do that?  Do you do an evaluation of attendance

         25  or something?
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          2                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, we have really for

          3  everything. You can take our Adult Literacy Program,

          4  our English for Speakers of Other Languages, it is

          5  about 3,000 people a year that go through that

          6  program.  So, there is an actual registration

          7  process there.

          8                 We tend to not seek registration in

          9  most cases, because we want people to keep their

         10  anonymity.  But when we do need it, Adult Literacy

         11  being one of them, that is when we do actual

         12  enrollment periods.  For that program, for example,

         13  we have had to move to basically people get a number

         14  and we randomly pick people as to who made it in to

         15  the program.  It used to be that we would have an

         16  actual registration day.  They would line up more

         17  than a City block long around the Central library.

         18  People would camp out in the middle of the night to

         19  be at the beginning of the line to be able to learn

         20  how to read.  And we had fights that broke out and

         21  things like that, as a result of people wanting to

         22  learn to read, adults.  And so we went to basically

         23  a mail process.  But we serve about 3,000 there for

         24  example.  We know, that is without any marketing.

         25  Not us telling a soul, this is all word of mouth.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Very little

          3  outreach.

          4                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, because we cannot

          5  do outreach because we already have demand of six to

          6  eight thousand people and we only have seats for

          7  three thousand.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Well, I think, I

          9  do not know if you heard our collective breaths

         10  being held as you said that you might come to the

         11  point of deciding to maybe close an additional five

         12  branches on the weekend in order to continue some of

         13  these services.  And I hope that point was

         14  underscored with the Administration and --

         15                 MR. GALANTE: That would be an

         16  impossible, it is an impossible decision but that is

         17  what we are up against.

         18                 Another thing I want to point out is

         19  that we need funding every year, and increase in

         20  funding, just to maintain where we are at.  One

         21  example, Friday, when I hit the roof regarding

         22  seeing bid results from about 15 different

         23  contractors for our HVAC contracts.  It went up $150

         24  thousand dollars.   It is a five year contract.  And

         25  what is going on in the fuel oil area, is hitting
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          2  that.  I have it looked at a number of ways.  The

          3  numbers are relatively fair.  But that is $150

          4  thousand, that is one, that is basically one library

          5  on Saturday right there.  And you know, we have cost

          6  increases like the City does, and unless there is

          7  additional funding that comes through, it comes out

          8  of services.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Well, those

         10  increases are real money increases and these are

         11  real money choices.  And it really becomes a

         12  question of what are the priorities of this Council?

         13  And I think that is clear one of the priorities of

         14  this Administration. Thank you, and thank you for

         15  your good work, too.

         16                 MR. GALANTE: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Council Member

         18  Inez Dickens from Manhattan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.  And thank you, Mr. Galante for your

         21  testimony.

         22                 I have a question.  The 750 plus the

         23  CASA funds has helped keep the BOOST as well as At

         24  Risk Youth and the enhancing after school

         25  programming for young adults, has kept that going?
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          2  All right.  I noticed on BOOST, it is in 26

          3  libraries, is that correct?  Am I reading this

          4  correctly?

          5                 MR. GALANTE: Oh no, what page are you

          6  on?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I am on page

          8  three of your testimony.

          9                 MR. GALANTE: The 26 was not -- BOOST

         10  is in every library, that 26 -- oh, this is where

         11  the CASA funding helps support additional materials

         12  and programs in 26 of our libraries.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And so BOOST

         14  is really in all 63.

         15                 MR. GALANTE: We went from our

         16  Latchkey Program prior, it was at 36 libraries.

         17  BOOST is now in 63 libraries, it is in every single

         18  library. So, that is why, because we view it as a

         19  service at this point, and call it as a core service

         20  that has to happen, which also puts us in a

         21  predicament, per se, when it comes to where are we

         22  at when the funding is not there.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, all of

         24  them, The At Risk and The After School for Youth

         25  Adults, all of them are in 63 libraries?
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          2                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Now how do

          4  you determine how much goes to each one of those

          5  libraries?  How is that determined?

          6                 MR. GALANTE: For the 63 for BOOST,

          7  what we do is, it is based on how many kids come.

          8  For most of our libraries, it will be one employee

          9  that will have their during those out of school time

         10  hours from three to six.  Some of the larger

         11  libraries, where we have volumes of four to five

         12  times the size of our typical library, then we will

         13  have four or five people there to help.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, it really

         15  goes by attendance at the libraries in order to

         16  determine how much they get in assistance for each

         17  one of these programs,  Is that right?

         18                 MR. GALANTE: Yes, well in The At Risk

         19  Program, we do not have that in every library.

         20  Right now, we have that, we mentioned Rosedale and

         21  Laurelton, it started off at Laurelton, then we

         22  extended it to Rosedale.  I have at least six

         23  libraries that could use this program, but we just

         24  do not have the funding to do it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, how many
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          2  libraries is At Risk in?

          3                 MR. GALANTE: The At Risk right now,

          4  we have got it in three.  I know we have it in

          5  Laurelton, Rosedale and we also have it at Pomonok.

          6  And I know Lefferts needs it, where we have a large

          7  teen population, that could use these services.

          8  What it typically involves is basically having

          9  somebody, an additional person who is there during

         10  the three to six hours, who is a professional.  I

         11  mean, a real professional.

         12                 I will give you an example.  One of

         13  the people that we have in these libraries here, he

         14  is about six foot seven, former basketball player,

         15  has his Masters in education, as well as library

         16  science.  And the kids gobble him up.  And what he

         17  does is, when kids come in looking for trouble, he

         18  does a great job working with the kids to turn into

         19  something productive.  So, they have chess

         20  tournaments, they have all kids of different games

         21  and things that they then use to lead towards

         22  reading.  We have put a basketball program in at two

         23  places for the summer, so that if you want to be in

         24  the community basketball league, then you have to be

         25  part of a summer reading program and read x number
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          2  of books.

          3                 So, we will do just about anything,

          4  including sports, to have that be a hook for kids to

          5  be able to come in, particularly in the At Risk

          6  areas, which is where we have the basketball

          7  programs.

          8                 And then on the third item, this is

          9  in all locations, where we basically were able to

         10  enhance the programming that we do every single day

         11  of the week in all libraries with the CASA support.

         12  The CASA support really is a wonderful thing.  We

         13  are in a tough situation.  Without funding has been

         14  since 9- 11.  We were cut $10 million dollars at

         15  that point, and that was about 18 percent in the

         16  neighborhood.  That was understandable at that point

         17  because the City was going through difficult times.

         18  Tax revenues were down and so forth.  What is

         19  difficult for us now, is that as tax revenues have

         20  come back, we are not back yet.  We are still,

         21  Libraries are still at recession service levels.

         22  And you can go back over at least two or three

         23  decades, you will not see that. What you will see

         24  is, you will see a big dip in library services, cuts

         25  in days and hours, when a recession hits.  But
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          2  usually two to three years after the recession, we

          3  are back to open six, seven   days a week.  And that

          4  just has not happened with this go around.         And

          5  I know the Council works very hard with the budget

          6  process to try and change that.  We hope it changes

          7  this year,  But it really makes it hard.  I get a

          8  lot of letters from people who want their libraries

          9  open on Saturday.  And they will tell me, close on

         10  Monday then to be open on Saturday.  But if I do

         11  that, that means the kids have no place to go after

         12  school.  So, we have made it a priority in Queens,

         13  that our five day schedule is Monday to Friday, so

         14  that every day when you get out of school, you have

         15  a place to go, but it definitely hurts the weekend

         16  service in a big way for working people, as well.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, I want to

         18  be very specific.  The 750 plus the CASA would

         19  provide BOOST, At Risk Youth and the Enhancing After

         20  School Program for the 63, or would it remain- it

         21  would be all 63?

         22                 MR. GALANTE: Libraries in Queens,

         23  yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: But it would

         25  not affect the teen mentoring program, am I
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          2  understanding that correctly?

          3                 MR. GALANTE: Correct, correct.  Which

          4  we think we can continue to keep having that funded

          5  privately, which is, it is an ongoing effort, but we

          6  have been able to do it for a number of years now.

          7  We are the largest employer of youth in the borough,

          8  not in the City, I guess, but at least the largest

          9  private employer.  We have almost 1,000 youth that

         10  work for us in any given year.  Five or six hundred

         11  as Pages, then we have the Teen Net Mentors, which

         12  is about 80 to 100 kids.

         13                 We also have all kinds of other, you

         14  know, specialty programs that we use to bring kids

         15  in with.  The Federal government has been better

         16  lately.  The State government has been better to us

         17  lately in a number of ways.  State funding which has

         18  just increased.  The Federal government on for Youth

         19  Force Investment Funding, is something we have been

         20  pretty successful at getting, relating to youth and

         21  work force development.  So, that has really helped

         22  out in a number of ways, too.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Okay.  Well,

         24  thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank
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          2  you for testifying here today.  And just to tell

          3  you, the Wildlife Society is the largest employer of

          4  youth in New York City.

          5                 MR. GALANTE: Not in Queens, though.

          6  I do not know if they are in Queens,

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, no, no not

          8  in Queens.  This is in New York City, in the City.

          9  Well, I want to thank you and we look forward to

         10  helping you out.

         11                 MR. GALANTE: Thank you, Domenic.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.  TASC.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: For the final panel,

         14  Mr. John Albert and Andy Pelosi from the After

         15  School Corporation.

         16                 MR. ALBERT: Good afternoon.  Thank

         17  you for having us testify.  I know that you have my

         18  testimony, so I will not read it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That is good.

         20  You know what? We like you.  We like you.

         21                 MR. ALBERT: Veterans of the Youth

         22  Services Committee know us but just very briefly, I

         23  will just go over who we are.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just highlight

         25  the important factors that you think --

                                                            151

          1  YOUTH SERVICES, CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2                 MR. ALBERT: Absolutely and I think we

          3  are really going to --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Lou Fidler knows

          5  all about TASC.

          6                 MR. ALBERT: Absolutely.  We usually

          7  focus on in school programs, but we really believe

          8  that many kids do not have access to in school

          9  programs, and actually prefer going to libraries and

         10  that is why we are very supportive of the Queens

         11  Public Library as they mentioned, and the work that

         12  they are doing.

         13                 Specifically, I just want to bring to

         14  the discussion some of the larger numbers that have

         15  not been brought up, in terms of need for after

         16  school programs.  Extrapolating from national data,

         17  we know that at TASC, there is a need for about

         18  400,000 slots for after school programs in the City.

         19    That is a tremendous amount.  Currently only

         20  120,000 are being served.  And if you look at the

         21  City's out of school time programming, only about

         22  65,000 kids are being served.  So there is an

         23  enormous amount of need.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That is

         25  throughout the whole City?
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          2                 MR. ALBERT: That is throughout the

          3  whole City.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: OST?

          5                 MR. ALBERT: OST serves, when fully

          6  funded this year, 65,000.  And so you can imagine

          7  the amount of need, and that is why we need the

          8  Public Libraries to be really involved.  And that is

          9  why we are very supportive of the work that they are

         10  doing.

         11                 So, that is just one piece.  The

         12  second piece I really want to  point out is that

         13  there is the need for quality after school program.

         14  And that is why we are working with the Queens

         15  Public Library system.  If you know TASC, we have a

         16  particular model in school, and we are working with

         17  them to have a particular model in the library.  So,

         18  to have particular staffing, working with parents

         19  who have different language needs than their kids,

         20  all of these things we feel are important and we

         21  really want to make sure that all libraries have

         22  access to this.

         23                 The Queens Public Library testimony

         24  mentioned that there are demonstration sites.  We do

         25  interesting things in all of the boroughs.  I am
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          2  sorry, in Queens, specifically, we work with the

          3  zoo, we work with reading and literacy programs, we

          4  work with dance and ballet.  And so, after school in

          5  the libraries is actually very, very comprehensive

          6  and that is where I think CASA really fits in and we

          7  really, really appreciate your support.

          8                 TASC is also a member of the New York

          9  City Youth Alliance, and we are making our visits to

         10  all the members in the coming months to talk, in the

         11  coming weeks, to talk about the budget needs and we

         12  really support restoration of CASA.  We have heard

         13  good things.

         14                 In terms of the evaluations that we

         15  have done, there has not been enough data, because

         16  it is such a new program.  But we have heard such

         17  positive things about CASA and the love that the

         18  kids have for having their world expanded by CASA.

         19  So, we definitely support that.

         20                 That ends my testimony and would love

         21  to answer your questions, if you have any.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, you said you

         23  are in all the boroughs?

         24                 MR. ALBERT: No, in Queens, I am

         25  sorry, I mis- spoke. In terms of our partnership
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          2  with the Queens Public Library, we are in all of

          3  their branches, all 63.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you partner

          5  with any other library systems?

          6                 MR. ALBERT: We do not currently.  We

          7  work with Queens Public Library to do their training

          8  and technical assistance for BOOST.  So they use

          9  their Wallace funds to hire us to do their training

         10  and technical assistance.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And has any of

         12  the other library systems reached out to you to work

         13  with you?

         14                 MR. ALBERT: They have not, thus far.

         15  But that does not mean that they are not providing

         16  quality programs.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know.  I am

         18  just curious to know that, you know, why Queens and

         19  no one else?  I was just curious.  Councilman Vinnie

         20  Gentile.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I am just

         22  curious, just following up on that, have been given

         23  the number of programs that you coordinate and

         24  assist with in Queens, have you attempted to make

         25  that same offer at the other systems?
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          2                 MR. ALBERT: We are in discussion with

          3  the other systems.

          4                 We are always talking to anyone who

          5  either wants or needs our services to improve the

          6  quality of their programming.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And you have the

          8  capability of doing that, should that come to pass?

          9                 MR. ALBERT: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I see, okay.

         11  Great.

         12                 MR. ALBERT: And that is why I think

         13  it is very important to continue to fund Libraries.

         14                 With the Wallace funds disappearing,

         15  we would love to find some way for the City to come

         16  and step in and help all the branches.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you.

         18                 MR. ALBERT: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, I want to

         20  thank you for testifying today.  Your testimony is

         21  in the record.  We appreciate it.

         22                 Anyone else would like to say a few

         23  words?

         24                 I would just like to conclude by, we

         25  would just like to send a message to the
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          2  Administration.  The Wallace Foundation is taking

          3  out the money,  We need a lot of money.

          4                 This concludes this hearing.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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